

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Relationship Between Incentive Program Costs, Incentive Payments, and Profitability

Claire Claire Turner Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons, and the Health and Medical Administration Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Marian Claire Turner

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Natalie Casale, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Matthew Knight, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Relationship Between Incentive Program Costs, Incentive Payments, and Profitability

by

Marian Claire Turner

MBA, Argosy University, 2014

BS, Texas Tech University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2022

Abstract

The lack of profitability among primary care businesses can have harmful impacts on business operations. Primary care businesses owners must remain profitable to remain in business and provide quality health care to patients. Grounded in Freeman's stakeholder theory, the purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. Data were collected from 73 primary care physician business owners in the Inland Empire region of southern California. The multiple linear regression analysis results indicated the model was able to significantly predict profitability, F(2,70) = 1343.6, p < .001, $R^2 = .975$. Incentive payments (t = 51.837, p < .001, $\beta = .928$) was the only statistically significant predictor. Key recommendations include educating primary care physicians on the potential financial benefits of full participation in the commercial line of business payfor-performance incentive programs and creating a campaign to bring in patients for wellness visits. The implications for positive social change include the potential for an additional revenue stream for primary care physician business owners, which could support more clinics, increasing patient access. Patients having better access to healthcare could positively affect the health and wellness of individuals in local communities.

Relationship Between Incentive Program Costs, Incentive Payments, and Profitability

by

Marian Claire Turner

MBA, Argosy University, 2014

BS, Texas Tech University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife, Shelly. She encouraged me to pursue a doctorate and supported me through the entire process. Her focus on clearing space and time for me to move forward was phenomenal. She kept me fed and watered when I was working late, so I could meet my goals. Her appreciation of knowledge and understanding of its importance makes her so very special.

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my resounding appreciation to Dr. Natalie Casale who stood by me when progress was slow during the pandemic. You were a beacon to guide us through the process and a paladin who ensured all students were treated fairly. I also want to thank my second committee member, Dr. Tim Truitt, for providing support with every submission. Thank you to my second URR, Dr. Matt Knight. He restored my desire to join the academic world.

My friends and family showed great understanding for my commitment to this journey and planned events around my schedule. I will be forever grateful for their love and support. I owe a favor to many people who supported this journey.

Thank you to Dr. Charles Chen, Dr. Phong Nguyen, and Dr. Jonathan Dinh for allowing me access to their practice data.

List of Tablesiv
List of Figuresv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem2
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study4
Research Question5
Hypotheses5
Theoretical Framework5
Operational Definitions
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations7
Delimitations
Significance of the Study8
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature9
Strategies for Searching the Literature10
Application to the Applied Business Problem11
Stakeholder Theory Application 12
Complementary Theories15

Table of Contents

Critiques of Stakeholder Theory 18
Incentive Program Costs
Incentive payments
Healthcare Incentive Programs
Transition43
Section 2: The Project
Purpose Statement45
Role of the Researcher
Participants47
Research Method and Design48
Research Method
Research Design
Population and Sampling
Population
Sampling
Ethical Research
Data Collection Instruments
Independent Variables
Dependent Variable
Data Collection Technique
Data Analysis60
Study Validity

Internal Validity
External Validity
Threats to Statistical Conclusion Validity65
Transition and Summary66
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
Presentation of the Findings69
Outliers70
Correlation Analysis74
Inferential Statistics75
Applications to Professional Practice78
Implications for Social Change79
Recommendations for Action80
Recommendations for Further Research80
Reflections81
Conclusion82
References
Appendix A: Data Use Agreement115
Appendix B: Data Collected118

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources	11
Table 2. IHA AMP Program	39
Table 3. Means and Standard Deviations for Study Variables	70
Table 4. Variable Categorization Scale	74
Table 5. Correlation Coefficients Among Study Predictor Variables	75

List of Figures

Figure 1. Power as a Function of Sample Size	55
Figure 2. Boxplot of Profitability Values	71
Figure 3. Histogram for Independent Variable Incentive Program Costs	72
Figure 4. Histogram of Independent Variable Incentive payments	73
Figure 5. Histogram of Dependent Variable Profitability	73
Figure 6. Normality Plot for Nonparticipating Providers	76
Figure 7. Normality Plot for Participating Providers	76
Figure 8. P-P Plot for Dependent Variable Residuals	77
Figure 9. Histogram of Dependent Variable Residual Distribution	77

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Healthcare incentive programs can be an additional revenue stream for primary care physician business owners. Primary care physician business owners have the priority to care for patients with appropriate healthcare operations while demonstrating profitability (Skirbekk et al., 2017). Clinicians who provide the necessary preventive procedures for patient care could receive monetary incentives if they choose to participate in a healthcare pay-for-performance (P4P) incentive program. Patients, health plan leaders, and clinicians are stakeholders in the healthcare industry and can benefit from an additional revenue stream.

Multiple P4P programs exist that could provide an additional revenue stream to healthcare providers. The incentive programs reward healthcare providers for performing specific preventive treatments for patients who are vulnerable due to a healthcare condition or age (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). The incentive programs reward healthcare providers for performing preventive treatments for patients who are vulnerable due to a healthcare condition or age. Healthcare expenditures in the United States are higher than in other countries, but some patients experience worse health outcomes (Soneji & Yang, 2015). Proactive patient care could potentially mitigate preventable conditions such as diabetes, which could decrease the costs of treating chronic disease. The results of this study may aid primary care physician business owners in deciding to participate in healthcare incentive programs that may increase profitability.

Background of the Problem

Primary care physician business owners have opportunities to increase their revenue by participating in incentive programs. Glover et al. (2018) found 37.2% of primary care physician business owners do not submit the necessary information to receive the full incentive payments. Healthcare incentive program analysts are dependent on clinical providers submitting valid, accurate data as evidence of patient care (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2020a). The incentive programs have payments associated with measures ensuring patients receive appropriate treatment, such as preventive procedures, lab work, and medication reviews (Goodrich, 2015). The programs also ensure healthcare entities adhere to regulatory requirements, including accurate and complete data (Quality Payment Program, 2018).

The focus of this study was to identify the costs of participation in healthcare incentive programs and to determine any possible effect on profitability. Diversified provider reimbursement programs can offer incentives to healthcare entities (Bowling et al., 2018). Creixans-Tenas and Arimany-Serrat (2018) found healthcare leaders who increase profitability with long-term projects create financial stability for the organization. Resilience is the primary concern for stakeholders, and their feedback could design a sustainable system for a resolution to the current problem (Anderies, 2014). A tenet of this study was an examination of the strategic costs primary care physician business owners incurred to participate in healthcare incentive programs and if the incentive payments covered the expenses or the costs outweighed the additional revenue stream of incentive payments.

Problem Statement

Almost 40% of eligible primary care physician business owners have not been receiving full reimbursement from healthcare incentive programs for commercial health plan patient care (Glover et al., 2018), which could reduce profitability and restrict the expansion of services. Because of the lack of participation in healthcare incentive programs, several physician organization leaders have reduced the potential for revenue for healthcare organizations by more than \$324 million dollars (Glover et al., 2018) that they could have earned for work already performed in the clinic (Singh, 2019). The general problem was that primary care physician business owners were not receiving the full reimbursement for patient care provided due to the lack of participation in incentive programs. The specific business problem was that some primary care physician business owners did not understand the relationship between healthcare P4P incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The targeted population consisted of managed-care commercial health plan patients between the ages of 18 and 65 in the Inland Empire of southern California. The independent variables were incentive program costs and incentive payments. The dependent variable was profitability. The implications for social change included the potential for expanded patient services and increased patient care opportunities to create a healthier society.

Nature of the Study

To undertake a study of this type, the quantitative method was applicable. Quantitative methodology is suitable when a researcher analyzes numerical data or survey results (Kisely, 2015; Saunders et al., 2015). Because the focus of this study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability, the quantitative method was appropriate. Other methods available were qualitative and mixed methods. The two methods are appropriate when researchers use observation and interpretation to define new knowledge (Rahi, 2017) or to test an established theory (Yin, 2018). This study did not include observing business operations or interpreting interview responses. For this reason, neither qualitative nor mixed methods were appropriate for this study.

I selected a correlational design for the study. Saunders et al. (2015) described the correlational design as analyzing independent and dependent variables to examine the relationship between them. This study included an examination of the relationship between the dependent variables of incentive program costs, incentive payments, and the dependent variable of profitability. Because this study contained an examination of the relationship between independent and dependent variables, a correlational design was appropriate for the study. Other designs I considered were experimental and quasi-experimental. Experimental design involves altering variables and measuring against a control group, which may not be realistic measurements of behavior (Saunders et al., 2015). A quasi-experimental design allows a researcher to measure variables, but there is no control group (Saunders et al., 2015). The design of this study was not conducive to

examining the variables to analyze the effect on business profitability; therefore, the experimental and quasi-experimental designs were not appropriate for this study.

Research Question

What is the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability?

Hypotheses

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

 H_1 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

Theoretical Framework

Freeman (1984) presented the stakeholder theory to demonstrate the significant influence stakeholders have on company leaders. Freeman's stakeholder theory (FST) comprised tenets from the systems, corporate social responsibility (CSR), and organizational theories and included influences from politics, sociology, economics, and ethics (Freeman, 1984; Mainardes et al., 2011). Freeman and Phillips (2002) clarified the theory relied on Libertarian ideas of individual freedom to create influence and developed a related strain of the theory applied to capitalism. Freeman et al. (2004) expanded the theory to emphasize trust as the foundation of the relationship between company leaders and stakeholders. The researchers emphasized FST's influence on an organization's success.

Stakeholders are those individuals or groups having an interest in or the ability to influence the outcome of the business decisions (Fritz et al., 2018; Mease et al., 2018). For the study, the stakeholders were primary care physician business owners with the decision-making power to participate or decline participation in healthcare incentive programs. Leaders in the healthcare industry rely on systems for patient care and CSR for community wellness. Sociology, economics, and ethics hold significance for healthcare providers when resolving patient health issues (Skirbekk et al., 2017). Using the FST for the study provided me a lens with which to examine the stakeholder influence on incentive program participation and how the participation level affected profitability.

Operational Definitions

Current procedural terminology (CPT): A combination of alphanumeric characters that service providers use to identify medical, surgical, and diagnostic procedures and services to regulatory entities and health plans (CMS, 2018).

International classification of diseases, tenth revision (ICD-10): A clinical cataloging system for diseases (CMS, 2018), under the purview of the World Health Organization, the governing body.

Pay for performance (P4P): A generic term to describe incentive program requirements, which are the basis for determining individual scores, payments, and awards for clinicians submitting to the program (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2020b).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Researchers should acknowledge the assumptions and limitations of their study. Additionally, setting the delimitations will confine the investigation to the predetermined boundaries of the study (Yin, 2018). Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are inherent in any research project (Yin, 2018). The definition, identification, and mitigation strategy for each set the foundation to assess the validity of the findings. Yin (2018) advised every researcher should be aware of epistemological, ontological, and axiological assumptions and address them appropriately.

Assumptions

Researchers could make assumptions about facts that they have not verified (Lussier, 2011). Merriam and Tisdell (2016) defined assumptions as facts that researchers cannot or do not confirm. My first assumption was that participants provided data elements for all the patients who qualify for a measure denominator in the P4P incentive program. The second assumption was that the information participants provided was up-to-date and accurate.

To address the first assumption, participants were able to submit the data elements in any format. Each participant was also given the opportunity to grant permission for me to extract the data on behalf of the participant. To mitigate the second assumption, I reviewed the dates of service and coding techniques to help ensure quality data results.

Limitations

Bengtsson (2016) defined limitations as influences on a study that the researcher cannot control and should treat as a weakness of the study. A possible weakness of the

study was a personal business relationship with the primary care physician business owners who participated in the P4P incentive program. The process used to code and submit records from the participating business owners was work performed on behalf of my employer's clients. Correlational analysis and regression analysis were used to help ensure I analyzed the data equally and fairly.

Delimitations

Delimitations denote the boundaries and scope of the study (Smith et al., 2016). The Inland Empire region of southern California was the geographic location of the medical groups (MGs) in this study. The participants in this study were limited to MGs meeting the minimum requirement for P4P incentive program participation. Primary care physicians must own the MGs or independent physician associations (IPAs) in this study.

Significance of the Study

The study findings may be of significance to the healthcare industry leaders because stakeholders expect clinical providers to provide patient care while still maintaining a profit (see Skirbekk et al., 2017). The results of the study could help primary care physician business owners gain insights into the possible revenue gains of participation in healthcare incentive programs. The decision to participate in these programs could lower patient care costs and provide an additional revenue stream.

Primary care physician business owners are responsible for managing a profitable company while also improving patient health outcomes (Pearson & Frakt, 2020; Skirbekk et al., 2017). Therefore, primary care physician business owners should seek to mitigate patient care costs to benefit from healthcare incentive payments. The results of this study may fill the gaps in the business acumen of clinical business owners in that it will demonstrate how participating in healthcare incentive programs has the potential to increase profits for primary care physician business owners while continuing to provide the necessary and appropriate care for patients.

The implications for positive social change from the study's findings may include the potential for an additional revenue stream for primary care physician business owners, which could support more clinics. Mansour et al. (2017) proposed that incentive payments might initiate a positive social change cycle, which could improve patient health outcomes and increase incentive payments. Additional healthcare clinics could provide additional preventive or curative services to patients. Wang (2018) found preventive patient care is more economical than reactive treatments for acute conditions because a healthy population can create a positive effect on economic growth and productivity. Healthcare providers who use the additional revenue on earlier patient care interventions will meet incentive program metrics, which could increase profitability.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. I examined the relationship between the independent and dependent variables using the FST. The literature review contains three main sections, including theoretical framework, incentive program variables, and empirical studies on the relationship between incentive program costs and payments, which affect profitability. The first section will include a discussion of the FST application, which was the theoretical lens for this study. The

literature review section will include complementary and competing theories. The second section will be a review of the incentive program costs and incentive payment variables. The third section will contain a review of the incentive programs in the healthcare industry and the associated financial implications.

Strategies for Searching the Literature

The literature review contains current research primarily from peer-reviewed journals, scholarly books, and government publications. The literature review includes studies conducted in the areas of FST, healthcare incentives, healthcare business, P4P, and incentive programs. Online search engines and databases such as Thoreau, Google Scholar, and Business Source Complete contained research articles for this study published predominantly between 2016 and 2021. Search terms for the databases were *healthcare incentives, healthcare pay for performance, incentive programs, incentive program costs, quality measures, P4P measures, MACRA, P4P, AMP, Medicare 5 Star, Meaningful Use, healthcare leadership, stakeholder theory,* and *stakeholder theory opposition.* Table 1 is a summary of the sources used in the literature review.

Table 1

Literature R	eview Sources
--------------	---------------

Percentage
82%
12%
3%
3%
100%

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The principal research question of this correlational study may serve to understand the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The independent variables were incentive program costs and incentive payments. The dependent variable was profitability.

Primary care physician business owners could affect profitability if they choose to participate or not participate in P4P incentive programs. The cost of professional services for appropriate patient care increased by 29% between 2015 and 2017 (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019b). The literature review includes subsections with information on the theoretical framework, study variables, and healthcare incentive programs. The focus of this study was to examine the correlation between the variables and understand the effect on profitability. The United States spends significantly more on healthcare expenditures and patients experience worse health outcomes compared to Western Europe (Scott, 2020; Soneji & Yang, 2015). Physicians endeavoring to lower costs could experience increased sustainability. Pearson and Frakt (2020) found reducing patient care costs had a significant effect on the sustainability of healthcare systems. Engaging in healthcare incentive programs could provide primary care physician business owners a foundation to make certain office clinicians complete preventive procedures appropriately. Proactive patient care may provide the potential to mitigate preventable conditions such as diabetes, which could decrease the costs of treating chronic disease.

Stakeholder Theory Application

Researchers can apply FST to studies in many industries. Fritz et al. (2018) proposed using a supply chain management approach to stakeholder management. The supply chain management approach identified direct and indirect stakeholder influence on business decisions. The authors designed a workflow for tiered suppliers and vendors categorized by stakeholder type based on the FST. Kapiriri and Donya Razavi (2021) posited healthcare company leaders could benefit from stakeholders who create feasible solutions from different perspectives based on their diverse experience in their study on resolving business priorities with stakeholder views. Leaders who prioritize the encouragement of stakeholders to combine their knowledge and skills could create innovative solutions (Laplume et al., 2021; Neuhofer, 2016). Stakeholder diversity has the potential to create a competitive advantage if organizational leaders embrace the influence (Maken et al., 2015; Ogden et al., 2017). The researchers identified the positive influence stakeholders could have on business operations. The FST has many tenets that support the business acumen of stakeholders.

Business leaders may deal with multiple levels of stakeholder influence on different areas of business operations. Kilic and Kalkan (2017) used the FST to analyze company strategies for pursuing CSR to sovereign powers acting as a governmental agency. They stated stakeholders have levels of influence, and companies should identify which are the most important stakeholders to the success of the business. Business owners should measure the costs of stakeholder inclusion against the benefits of CSR (Anderies, 2014; McGahan, 2020). Kilic and Kalkan questioned the morality of CSR when creating environments that purport community improvement but realistically only benefit the business owners. Kilic and Kalkan demonstrated another aspect of the theory that leaders need to demonstrate responsibility to the stakeholders. Leaders should focus on including stakeholder opinions when attempting a change in business operations.

Leaders can apply the FST to assess stakeholder opportunities and build trust with influential stakeholder groups. The theory offers a basis for managers to build relationships with stakeholders to support organizational goals (Dal Maso et al., 2018; Huml et al., 2018). Huml et al. (2018) stated the theory attributes trust as the overriding tenet of the theory. Leaders who understand the level of stakeholder influence can use stakeholder influence to support strategic business decisions. Jones et al. (2018) identified a trusting relationship between company leaders and stakeholders positively influenced the competitive advantage. Stakeholder groups of consumers may demonstrate loyalty if they participate in operational decisions. Moroni Cutovoi (2018) found leaders could increase stakeholder value by demonstrating sustainability endeavors. Depending on the market, sustainability may be the deciding factor in stakeholder support. Leaders should solicit stakeholder groups wisely and understand the priorities of the selected group.

If stakeholders do not have trust in the organization's leaders, the stakeholder contributions could be less constructive to the business. Managers can build trust with stakeholders by treating them equally (Huml et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020; Lochrie, 2016). The study results confirmed that treating stakeholders equally in the sports industry builds trust with the coach. Trust between stakeholders and business leaders may benefit from meaningful interaction between the stakeholders and leaders at various levels of business operations.

Another industry in which leaders could take advantage of stakeholder contributions for analysis is cultural tourism. Lochrie (2016) studied stakeholder engagement with Edinburgh's Old and New Towns, The Antonine Wall, and the Derwent Valley Mills World Heritage Sites in the United Kingdom and found the level of managerial capabilities affects the level of stakeholder engagement. Experienced leaders understand the importance of stakeholder relationships, and creating a relationship is an ever-present responsibility for successful business operations. Lalicic (2018) found tourism agency managers can increase stakeholder buy-in by creating an open innovation platform for communication. Stakeholder geographic diversity could contribute to profitability by identifying ways to attract international consumers. However, international engagement can be difficult if leaders and stakeholders do not make enough effort to understand different points of view.

Complementary Theories

The FST incorporates ideas from other established research theories. Likewise, researchers developed theories with influence from the FST and identified complementary aspects between the FST and new theories. The expectancy theory, entrepreneurial allocation theory, and stakeholder salience theory support some of the same aspects of the FST.

Expectancy Theory

Researchers have historically applied the expectancy theory to individualized behaviors. Baumann and Bonner (2017) examined the expansion of expectancy theory in a group setting. The actor evaluated the characteristics of valence, instrumentality, and expectancy for each decision. Group application involved identifying the desired outcome before the study execution because the discussion and expertise of others played a role in the expectancy theory (Baumann & Bonner, 2017; Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Individuals may not make the same decisions when contributing to a group as they would on an individual basis.

Individuals responsible for their own decisions may be less tentative when expressing an opinion compared to being held accountable by a group decision process. Baumann and Bonner (2017) stated the confirmation and denial of expertise identified the individual attempts and passes on designated tasks. The results of Baumann and Bonner's study indicated that participants were more reluctant to express expertise in a group environment than on an individual basis so as not to be judged by the group. Rim et al. (2020) found moderated mediation can mitigate the participant's reluctance to express expertise. Business leaders could apply the understanding of stakeholder hesitancy when in a group setting and seek individual feedback.

The expectancy theory, as applied to a healthcare setting, relates to the entrepreneurship of primary care physician business owners engaging patients as the stakeholders. Renko et al. (2012) applied the expectancy theory to budding entrepreneurs to analyze how motivation affected business success. Lloyd and Mertens (2018) proposed a fourth tenet of social context would be an appropriate addition to the expectancy theory. Both research groups found valence, instrumentality, and expectancy are all related to the successful operations of a new business. The expectancy theory could apply to how the long-term behavior of new and established MG leaders affects incentive program participation and profitability.

Entrepreneurial Allocation Theory

Baumol (1990) developed the entrepreneurial theory and applied the concept that entrepreneurship combines current resources to create new businesses that could be productive, unproductive, or destructive. The categories of entrepreneurial activity are the role of institutions, the role of individual factors, entrepreneurial action and institutional change, entrepreneurial allocation influencing economic performance (Aeeni et al., 2018; Baumol, 1990; Matherne III et al., 2020). In a healthcare setting, many entrepreneurial roles could apply. Physicians may own their business, contract with a healthcare organization, or work as an employee in an institutional environment. Regardless of the role, leaders need to establish trust with stakeholders as a catalyst for productive interaction.

There could be a great deal of fraud in the healthcare industry, and some of the business owners may have unproductive or destructive motivations. The unproductive behavior of entrepreneurs could be a result of the perception of government demands on revenue (Geyman, 2021; Pittaki, 2018). Abulencia (2021) and Aeeni et al. (2018) recommended more investigation into individual motivations and what mechanisms or processes entrepreneurs implemented. Freeman (1984) promoted CSR in the FST as a necessary objective for successful business operations. Healthcare leaders who understand the impetus of creating a new strategy will be able to set positive, achievable goals.

Stakeholder Salience Theory

Stakeholders can have varying levels of influence, depending on their role in an organization. Mitchell et al. (1997) and Gianfelici et al. (2018) posited the salience or prominence of stakeholders depends on how managers view the power, legitimacy, or urgency of the stakeholder influence. Stakeholder salience levels in each area could influence how a business owner perceives the stakeholder's power (Kapiriri & Donya Razavi, 2021; Khurram et al., 2019). The more effort required to establish trust with stakeholders could guide the level of salience managers assign to stakeholders. The reasons for assigning salience levels of influence could impact organizational leaders' decisions.

Leaders of an organization may assign and modify the salience of stakeholder influence based on specific situations. Thijssens et al. (2015) and Khurram et al. (2019) found legitimacy was the primary factor for salience levels assigned to stakeholders. Influences of power and urgency were important only when managers used the two aspects to support legitimate claims to stakeholder influence on environmental information. Managers assess stakeholder salience based on assorted combinations of corporate responsibility objectives and stakeholder influence levels of interest.

Managers assigning salience to stakeholders could also include the complexity of the stakeholder relationship. Primary or internal stakeholders have greater control and influence than external stakeholders over business strategy (Conaty & Robbins, 2018; Stadler et al., 2017). Thiel et al. (2012) confirmed stakeholder salience did not equate to ethical influence. There could be a stronger trust between primary or internal stakeholders than stakeholders with a secondary or tertiary level of influence. Internal versus external stakeholder status may be a determining factor in a business decision matrix.

Critiques of Stakeholder Theory

Researchers could apply FST to various types of studies in different industries. Many researchers found modifications or expansions to the theory were necessary to strengthen the theory application. Alvarez et al. (2020) stated the FST evolved from managing stakeholders to creating a network of participants who support a common endeavor. The authors pointed out that the original theory did not address how the initial stakeholder groups emerged in the company infrastructure. Okazaki et al. (2020) found that stakeholders create networks with others having the same personal values. Leaders cannot assume the stakeholders are a finite set of participants but rather a flexible set of contacts identified for different purposes. Identifying stakeholder development is an essential step in creating trust with company leaders.

The FST may not be applicable if a foundation of trust does not exist among stakeholders or between stakeholders and business leaders. A criticism of the FST is that no process of developing a stakeholder connection exists in theory rhetoric (Amis et al., 2020; Crane, 2020; Miles, 2017). Business leaders must seek out information on creating the necessary relationships to support stakeholder management. Leaders who incorporate stakeholder engagement into the mission statement or company vision may be more successful in establishing trust among stakeholder groups.

Leaders using the FST in their strategic management style should be aware of the potential conflict of stakeholder and shareholder priorities. If the main strategic initiative of company leadership is to benefit shareholders, the FST presents conflicts because of the holistic approach to stakeholder management (Freeman et al., 2018; Hatherly et al., 2020). Shareholders are one group of stakeholders; however, they may not have the greatest influence (Freeman et al., 2018). Shareholder interests are not necessarily reliant only on profitability, but leaders must consider their contributions to successful business operations.

A holistic aspect of the FST is compatible with ethical company leaders. Conversely, Weitzner and Deutsch (2019) stated leaders who pursue profitability above other competitive advantages, such as customer loyalty, should not try to incorporate instrumental stakeholder theory because stakeholders would view the attempt to create trust as insincere. Knowledge sharing is more important than stakeholder influence on management decisions (Oyemomi et al., 2019). The authors concluded the FST is no longer an asset to achieving a competitive advantage in the marketplace. The researchers' viewpoint conflicts with the intent of FST, which is to incorporate CSR to increase competitive advantage.

The holistic view of the FST conflicts with the idea that stakeholders either compete or cooperate with business leaders. Freeman (1984) and Olsen (2017) identified stakeholders as having an interest in the outcome of a process. The interests of some stakeholders may not be benevolent, such as competitors seeking to gain market share. Stakeholder managers should adjust their style in accordance with the stakeholder objectives.

Stakeholders who value CSR may be more likely to support corporate leaders with ties to the community. Jones et al. (2018) proposed that a good stakeholder relationship can strengthen competitive advantage through optimal stakeholder engagement. Customers who pay attention to local sourcing and charitable giving may review CSR when making a purchase decision (Bapuji et al., 2018; Gruber et al., 2017; Min et al., 2017). Managers should research stakeholder priorities to ascertain a strategic direction. Aligning corporate strategic objectives with stakeholder interests could increase alignment between leaders and followers.

Diverse customers may prefer to support companies with culturally diverse business strategies. Business owners in the healthcare industry may benefit from acknowledging and encouraging diversity to develop patient treatments (Armstrong et al., 2019; Kapiriri & Donya Razavi, 2021). Patients may show more loyalty in a clinical setting when they receive customized treatment plans. Primary care physician business owners may develop more trust with their patients when alternate solutions are available from which the patients may choose.

Some researchers have criticized Freeman's utopian point of view in the FST. Stern (2018) stated the FST does not accommodate realistic business scenarios for leaders who need a resolution to professional management challenges. FST presumes a reliance on stakeholder satisfaction for continued financial and reputational success (Siltaoja & Lahdesmaki, 2015). For example, primary care physician business owners could decide to use profits to reduce costs for patients (FST) or distribute additional funds to other owners (shareholder theory).

The healthcare industry leaders should take into consideration the influence of politics on healthcare regulations. The FST falls somewhere between management and politics to analyze the power of major corporations (Bonnafous-Boucher & Porcher, 2010; Olsen, 2017). Managers have decision-making flexibility under the FST but also have the responsibility to meet stakeholder objectives, not just the shareholders. The healthcare industry companies need to make a profit to continue to provide services to the community. However, medical industry leaders do have opportunities for additional funding from industry programs.

Patients are one category of stakeholders in the healthcare industry. Bonnafous-Boucher and Porcher (2010) found that citizens group themselves into social interest groups and become stakeholders of the community. The researchers posited that the FST marginally revisits the civil society theory for business. A second correlation is that members of civil society and stakeholder groups assert themselves to pressure on corporate leaders for corporate social responsibility (Bonnafous-Boucher & Porcher, 2010; Oyemomi et al., 2019). Applying the same summary to the healthcare industry, patients may band together to develop better health care options.

Incentive Program Costs

Each primary care physician business owner should understand the costs associated with participation in incentive programs. Casalino et al. (2016) found that physician organizations spent \$40,069 per physician for the measurement year 2014 to document and manage incentive program participation. Participation in the P4P align measure perform (AMP) program is voluntary if providers have at least 30 patients in the denominator of the metrics submitted (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). However, to increase the number of patient outcomes, meeting the measurement criteria may require additional clinic resources. For this reason, business owners should be cognizant of the return on investment for additional costs to increase outcome percentages.

Primary care physician business owners could decide to include or exclude the costs at their discretion. Costs may include education, technology, treatment, or patient incentive payments (Garner et al., 2018; Sterling, 2017). The healthcare industry needs new approaches to preventive healthcare beyond immunizations as the P4P program moves to a value-based system rather than a reactive measurement of patient care (Dick,

2018; Gwynne & Agha, 2019). Some programs, for example, diabetic care, may need more information disseminated to patients than for preventive procedures, such as screenings for colorectal or breast cancer screenings (Perng & Tang, 2019). Primary care physician business owners should be able to show a return on investment (ROI) for patient care costs.

Primary care physician business owners may have an opportunity to include other specialties to meet the incentive program requirements of patient care. For example, otolaryngologists can participate in the Merit-based Incentive Payment System (MIPS) to increase profitability by demonstrating quality care. However, the otolaryngologists stated the current MIPS program is not specific enough to address their practices (Rathi et al., 2018). Specificity in incentive program measurements, self-selection of metrics, and patient registries can encourage participation (Rathi et al., 2018; Stewart et al., 2017). If clinicians participate in designing the incentive programs, they could be more enthusiastic about the health outcomes.

An example of ROI in the healthcare industry is incentivizing patients to participate in treatment programs. Wammes et al. (2018) found patients with comorbidities accounted for 68% of healthcare costs. Garner et al. (2018) posited illicit drug use had higher costs associated with it than drug treatment for chronic diseases. The researchers identified patients needing pain treatment for relief from chronic diseases. The results of the study demonstrated a 325% increase in patient participation in legal treatment for a 5% increase in patient care costs (Garner et al., 2018). The results indicated a high ROI for incentivizing patients to accept recommended treatment. Leaders should design patient incentive programs based on feedback from their stakeholders. Diversification of incentive programs and funding options will engage healthcare patients and physicians (Bigsby et al., 2017; Pandya et al., 2018). Bigsby et al. (2017) analyzed patient support of incentive programs to encourage higher participation in smoking cessation, weight loss, and colon cancer screening programs. Overweight participants and smokers had more positive attitudes toward incentive programs than colon cancer patients.

Incentivizing patients to improve their health can also increase the clinician P4P scores in incentive programs. Cunningham et al. (2017) found contingency management (CM) is an effective approach but not prolific in treatment because of the costs. Van Rossum et al. (2015) confirmed lean strategies are more prevalent in the healthcare industry to help leaders adapt to changes in a regulated environment. The short-term costs may prevent clinicians from implementing patient P4P because the long-term benefits are not apparent. Proponents of CM methods rely on the fact that the costs increase as participant results improve (Cunningham et al., 2017). As patients achieve the initial goals, the bonus incentives may need to increase to encourage continued participation. An example of CM is educating obese patients on the benefits of physical activity and providing rewards each time the patient adheres to the established treatment plan.

Patients may not have the same motivation for P4P rewards. D. M. Williams et al. (2018) studied whether patients would prefer to exercise for their monetary benefit or the benefit of their chosen charity. Each time patients completed a physical activity, they could choose to receive the financial reward or donate the reward to charities (D. M.
Williams et al., 2018). Mental health professionals who incorporated patient participation had more innovative options than instructing patients on their behavior (Khan et al., 2020). The results demonstrated that the P4P program benefitted the patient's long-term health and increased P4P metric results (D. M. Williams et al., 2018). Primary care physician business owners may need to survey patient stakeholders for creative ideas to enhance proactive patient care. The primary care physician business owners are responsible for deciding if incentive payments might mitigate patient care costs.

Incentive payments

Primary care physician business owners would receive incentive payments if the information submitted results in meeting metric thresholds. Incentive payments may vary each year, depending on the modified measurement set and how many participants meet the requirements (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). The overarching goal of most P4P incentive programs is to improve patient health outcomes (Diaz et al., 2018). Healthier patients could reduce healthcare costs in the long run, which could increase incentive payments.

Specialty providers also have an opportunity to earn incentive payments, which could benefit patients. For example, The Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) leaders created a program to incentivize surgery providers to practice in areas lacking medical professionals. Diaz et al. (2018) identified an increase in surgical procedures in rural areas during the incentive program period of study. The resulting incentive payments could be one strategy to increase patient access to healthcare (Diaz et al., 2018; Holloway et al., 2017). Surgeons meeting the program criteria could increase their profitability while also helping patients improve their health outcomes.

Pay for performance incentive payments can exist in different categories of the healthcare industry. Ball (2017) compared the prison health system to the health care system of the general population and found incentive payments for healthier inmates contribute to the bottom line of the budget. Mozaffarian et al. (2018) estimated that cardiology incentive programs could save billions of dollars over a 5 year period in cardiovascular disease healthcare costs. Ball and Mozaffarian et al. analyzed incentive payments for health outcomes versus payment for services rendered to patients. To reinvent the measurements of success in the health care system, leaders should review specific case scenarios through the lens of an incentive program (Ball). Analysts can then extrapolate the results from individual cases to the whole system.

Incentive program metrics may vary based on the cultural differences between industry leaders and patient populations. Atchessi et al. (2016) examined the relationship between copay reductions and the use of health care services by the indigent population. Results indicated a slight increase in health service utilization between the impoverished group with waived fees (46.2%) and the nonexempted group (42.1%; Atchessi et al., 2016). Age, gender, and receiving financial support from families were the determining factors for better health care (Atchessi et al., 2016; Baue & Wood, 2015). Lowering the costs for patients may encourage preventive care. Early preventive treatments may decrease the onset of chronic conditions. This scenario could contribute to lower longterm expenditures for patient care. Primary care physician business owners should decide which incentive program payment recipients, patient or physician, will be the most profitable. Lowering costs for patients may be the best option to increase profitability.

Incentive payments can provide additional revenue for clinical operations. Financial, economic, political, and social sustainability will increase the health of society and provide value to participants in the healthcare industry (Borgonovi et al., 2018). Business owners could use short-term incentive payments to pay for investments in patient health for lower long-term costs. A healthier population contributes to and supports healthy economies (Strang et al., 2017). Incentive payments for smaller healthcare businesses could support business profitability. Incentive payments could make a significant contribution to the profitability of small-scale businesses.

Incentive payments could help sustain medical practices. Dreachslin et al. (2017) examined strategies to provide superior patient care, which is sustainable in a culturally and linguistically diverse population. Recommendations for organizational change included extensive planning of objectives and resource participation, clear communication with leaders and followers, and well-distributed training to encourage ongoing success for diversity initiatives (Dreachslin et al., 2017). Successful implementation and sustainable change require stakeholder agreement and support for full adoption (Scemama et al., 2022). Primary care physician business owners incorporating optional strategies may position themselves to support long-term health benefits for their patients. Strategic positioning may also contribute to long-term profitability with lower patient care costs.

Primary care physician business owners who are not currently receiving

additional revenue due to lack of participation may already be performing the work required to receive incentive payments. Singh (2019) found there were no additional efforts required in the healthcare industry because of the focus on health improvement. If Singh's assumption is accurate, the incentive payments from exceptional patient care could become an additional revenue stream. Health education can support sustainability by including patients in preventive activities (Fischer & Heinrichs, 2018). Clinicians who include patients in the health outcomes could receive higher incentive payments. Additional revenue is available if primary care physician business owners decide to participate in the applicable incentive payment programs.

Payment models vary, and primary care physician business owners should decide among the programs. No one payment model is ideal, but each version could improve by incorporating lessons learned for the participation costs and payments (Ball, 2017; B. Park et al., 2018). Incentive program leaders should analyze results annually to confirm participating clinicians are achieving the target results. Clinicians may have a short amount of time with patients and need a concise treatment review with the patients. Ball (2017) asserted that a complex set of metrics might prevent participation if providers feel the burden is too great to be worth the incentive payment.

Healthcare Incentive Programs

Primary care physician business owners have an opportunity to qualify for and participate in P4P healthcare incentive programs. The goal of P4P incentive programs in healthcare is to influence optimal care for groups of patients associated with conditions such as heart disease or demographic attributes such as gender or age (Auerbach, 2015; Ryan et al., 2015). Not all medical providers have a patient mix that would qualify for participation. Medical providers with a younger, healthier patient population may not need additional incentives to mitigate the costs of patient care.

The origin of incentive types of programs is the triple aim framework in healthcare. The triple aim model incorporates the guidelines for improving health outcomes, reducing costs, and improving the patient experience (Berwick et al., 2008; Jamison et al., 2021). By addressing health issues proactively with specific patient groups, providers might achieve the three tenets of the triple aim. Primary care physician business owners could benefit financially with lower costs of care by helping their patients stay healthy. In turn, patients may have more motivation to follow medical advice if they experience better health.

Healthcare inequality exists in many forms. Baue and Wood (2015) found leaders do not support sustainability initiatives of the triple aim after the initial incentive payments and disparities are widening. Mainly, base-of-the-pyramid communities, usually defined as the poorest two-thirds of society, do not receive the same benefits as more developed socioeconomic societies (Leslie et al., 2021; United Nations Global Compact, 2015; Varadarajan, 2014). Many resource disparities are because of infrastructure issues that elected officials do not resolve (Varadarajan, 2014). The neglect of infrastructure issues can affect the health of several generations, some without clean water, healthcare, and adequate nutrition. Healthcare incentive programs could bring attention to community disparities and support better healthcare. Healthcare business leaders may need to measure performance in the healthcare industry outside of patient care. Balanced scorecards present complementary performance perspectives in the areas of financial, customer, internal business, and learning and growth areas (Emami & Doolen, 2015; Quesado et al., 2018). Emami and Doolen (2015) posited that fewer than half of healthcare managers measure the learning and growth quadrant because of the difficulty of the measurement process. Providers participating in healthcare incentive programs may be able to increase the scores in the learning and growth quadrant by expanding services to meet measurement guidelines. Primary care physician business owners are managing a business in the healthcare industry. When they address all four quadrants, the company may be more successful.

Primary care physician business owners have several healthcare incentive programs in which to participate. P4P is a collective term to describe the programs that pay providers to provide or improve the quality and efficiency of patient care (James, 2012). The currently published P4P programs have similar requirements of requiring the use of data from submitted claims and manual submissions but may have different algorithms to calculate performance metrics (Casalino et al., 2016). For example, one program may have different levels of HbA1c for commercial versus senior managed care diabetic patients. The HbA1c lab test measures the average glucose blood levels for the previous month. Regardless of the incentive program measure set, the data source is lab results from patient bloodwork. Healthcare leaders may create incentive programs from different perspectives to achieve specific objectives. High readmission rates can cause hospitals unnecessary expenses. Swinburne et al. (2017) studied a diversified approach to reducing healthcare costs through better patient nutrition. The authors confirmed poor diet contributes to increased readmission rates and health problems such as high blood pressure, diabetes, obesity, and mental health issues. Swinburne et al. (2017) examined the health benefits of a nutritional incentive program. The results of the study indicated a 45% decrease in body mass index (BMI) from a 69% increase in fruit and vegetable consumption (Swinburne et al., 2017). P4P program designers focused on proactively addressing nutritional aspects of patient healthcare that may reduce hospital readmissions. The results of the study by Swinburne are an example of a low-cost treatment option to support improved patient health outcomes.

Providers should code all patient diagnoses to warrant proper reimbursement for services rendered. For example, if a provider codes a diabetic patient with uncomplicated diabetes, the annual payment from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) is \$4,990, but CMS will pay \$17,580 if providers also document comorbidities of stage IV chronic kidney disease, morbid obesity, depression, and heart disease (Carnavali & Arron, 2017). Appropriate coding plays a significant role in the profitability of healthcare businesses (M. O. Kim et al., 2017). Physicians who carefully code all diagnoses may have higher incentive payments. Many of the healthcare incentive programs use diagnosis codes to qualify patients for specific metrics.

Types. Healthcare incentive programs can fall into three categories: quality, senior population healthcare, and commercial population healthcare. This subsection

includes a description of the evolution of the incentive programs and the reasons the programs are essential to the healthcare industry. The quality payment program (QPP), AMP Medicare Advantage (AMP-MA), and AMP commercial HMO (AMP-HMO) are popular programs. The design and purpose of the three programs follow the incentive program introduction. The last component is the measurement details of the AMP commercial program under review.

Generally, each program has three design elements. The main design elements of a good incentive program are measuring metric performance, achieving financial incentives, and establishing transparency for better consumer engagement in selecting excellent providers (Dick, 2018; Patel, 2018). Primary care physician business owners should review the incentive programs applicable to their practice and understand the requirements before committing to participation. Providers may need to use various communication styles and educational materials specific to each program and the applicable patient population.

The first generation of healthcare incentive program developers focused on reactive treatments. A reactive type of program design originated with the performance or volume-based metrics (CMS, 2018; Mkanta et al., 2016). Providers who treated a certain percentage of patients for a program metric would receive the incentive payment. Providers adhering to a reactive style of a program may have focused more on standard treatments to meet the requirements rather than customized solutions for their patients.

Incentive program designers planned for positive results for the patients. However, patient health outcomes did not improve as expected because the design focused on reactive treatments (Auerbach, 2015; Mkanta et al., 2016). Auerbach (2015) and Mkanta et al. (2016) found a reactive type of model seemed to reward providers based on patient treatments, not patient outcomes. Responsive procedures are necessary, but proactive treatments may mitigate preventable illness. An example would be administrating low-cost vaccines to avoid high-cost hospitalizations for pneumonia.

The second generation for incentive programs is outcome-based or value-based design. A value-based incentive program consists of measures that may improve patient health outcomes, thus creating value for the incentive dollars paid to providers (Arnold, 2017; Mendelson et al., 2017). For example, to improve the health condition of diabetic patients, a measure to review diabetic patients who consistently adhere to their medication regimen could keep insulin levels in the normal range. In this example, the performance-based program measures if the clinician wrote the insulin prescription. A value-based incentive program measures if patient insulin levels are consistently in the normal range.

The programs reward providers who perform preventive measures to lower longterm health risks (Niederman et al., 2017; Wiley & Matthews, 2017). Several programs have proactive steps to improve patient outcomes. Dick (2018) asserted that measures could be in the categories of structure, process, or patient outcomes. All of the areas should be important to primary care physician business owners who want to build a successful business. Still, improving patient outcomes may be the main focus of healthcare providers. Healthcare incentive programs that measure patient outcomes will be the focus of this study.

Quality Payment Program

The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 established the requirement for CMS to create incentive programs. The catalyst for the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 was to encourage physicians to transition from fee-for-service (FFS) reimbursement models to performance or value-based models (Pimperl et al., 2017). Physicians who prefer the FFS payment model may not adjust quickly to the managed care payment model, and the incentive program provides an additional revenue stream. Managed care payment models have a longer measurement period for payments than the FFS model (CMS, 2018). However, a value-based type of program may be a more successful approach to improve patient health conditions.

CMS reimbursement rates may be lower, causing physicians in more populated states to refuse patients with healthcare coverage under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA). Bowling et al. (2018) posited incentive program designers would phase out FFS programs in favor of value-based payment methods. Bowling et al. (2018) found that ACA payments were 34% lower than FFS payments. Lower payments might deter physicians from treating ACA patients in favor of FFS patients. Incentive payments could be a mitigating factor in a physician's decision to treat patients with ACA coverage and encourage a diverse patient mix.

Two options exist under the QPP, which CMS leaders designed as required by law. The two programs are the MIPS and the alternative payment model (APM). The purpose of the QPP was to repeal the sustainable growth rate, which controlled provider reimbursement, and change incentive models (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019). The sustainable growth rate restricted provider reimbursement to a capped amount approved by Congress and based on the Medicare population with a small increase for inflation (Quality Payment Program, 2018). The new design of payments for value-based outcomes may provide incentives more in line with the goals of primary care physician business owners.

The first participation option is the MIPS program for primary care provider groups. The MIPS program designers combined previous quality programs to streamline the process (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019). The new design of MIPS incorporates quality metrics, improvement activities, promoting interoperability and costs programs (Quality Payment Program, 2020). The sources for the previous quality, promoting interoperability, and costs programs were the Physician Quality Reporting System, Advancing Care Information, and Value-Based Payment Modifier, respectively (Quality Payment Program, 2020). The incentive payment results are a combined score for the four categories. Primary care physician business owners will need to review each of the four categories to understand how to qualify for payments.

The second option for participation in the QPP is the APM. Providers can earn an incentive payment for meeting the APM program payment or patient thresholds (Daniel et al., 2018; Quality Payment Program, 2018). Incentive program target levels can apply to groups, such as an accountable care organization, in which at least 50% of the providers use an electronic health record application (Quality Payment Program, 2018). The APM program consists of several methods of engagement for individual healthcare providers who may or may not be part of an organization. The specialty-focused

incentive programs may provide flexibility for multispecialty groups or individuals to earn additional revenue.

By providing several participation options, clinicians and patients can experience better treatment options. For example, a single orthopedic surgeon has the opportunity to participate in the APM Comprehensive Care for Joint Replacement model. The QPP is an inclusive, expansive program to encourage participation for many types of primary care physician business owners. The QPP designers attempted to offer programs to address the needs of Medicare recipients.

AMP Medicare Advantage

The senior population has a set of preventive measures for their specific healthcare needs. CMS began a 5-star rating program in 2008 that has 30 measures related to clinical procedures, patient experience, and customer service to assist senior patients with the selection of quality health plans and providers (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). Seniors may have more healthcare concerns because of age-related conditions that need to be treated by primary care and specialist physicians (Hazra et al., 2018). Managed care patients may prefer a broad provider selection for their healthcare needs, and the rating system could help them make the best selection.

Healthcare providers may prefer the smaller AMP-MA set of measures. AMP-MA program designers identified 14 clinical measures that are important to seniors with managed care health plan coverage (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). The Integrated Healthcare Association leaders developed the AMP-MA incentive program as a management tool to support the CMS Medicare Star rating performance measures (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). Six health plans that have 80% of the Medicare Advantage membership in California participate in the AMP-MA (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). Health plans may use the ratings to calculate managed care capitation payments to providers. Primary care physician business owners who have a patient mix with mostly senior patients might find the AMP-MA program more applicable than the AMP-HMO measure set.

AMP Commercial HMO program

Measurement year (MY) 2018 measure results from the AMP-HMO will be used for this study. The program was initially the Value Based Pay for Performance program, begun in 2001 (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). The annual modifications are an example of the board members striving to meet the changing healthcare environment so that patients receive appropriate medical care. Even though participation is voluntary, 11 health plans have a combined total of 200 physician organizations, with more than 9 million patients participating in the program (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a, 2020a).

The AMP-HMO incentive program in this study consists of four measurement segments. The measurement areas are clinical quality, patient experience, advancing care information, and resource use and total cost of care (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a, 2020a). Data applicable to diabetes and preventive care clinical quality category measures will be used for this study. However, an overview of the program will put the clinical standards in perspective as they relate to patient healthcare.

Patient surveys supply the information to calculate the patient experience results. The Patient Assessment Survey tool measures patient ratings for the experience before, during, and after the medical treatment (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018; Pacific Business Group on Health, 2020). Patient opinions are available to the public. The publication could provide patients with more insight when choosing a healthcare provider.

The Advancing Care Information area of the AMP commercial HMO program relates to the management of electronic patient information. Two measures support healthcare information technology initiatives to collect and report healthcare information electronically (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). The measures are to certify patient medical records are available electronically. When a patient sees different providers, the ease of access to health information supports continuity of care for the patient.

The last segment in the AMP commercial HMO program is resource use and total cost of care measures steps clinicians take to lower costs while providing appropriate treatments. The measures focus on reducing the costs of hospital readmissions, emergency room visits, prescription medications, and the patient's use of services (Auerbach, 2015; Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). The measure could be an indication of patient treatments that primary care physicians could perform at a lower cost. Some of the activities are unavoidable and will occur regardless of physician intervention. However, a reduction of the expenses could benefit both the primary care

physician business owners and their patients. Table 2 contains the AMP-MA and

AMP_HMO program categories and applicable populations.

Table 2

Integrated Health Association AMP Program

Program	Clinical Quality Measure Categories	Type of Coverage
AMP	Behavioral Health and Substance Use	Commercial
	Cardiovascular	Commercial/Senior
	Diabetes	Commercial/Senior
	Maternity	Commercial
	Musculoskeletal	Senior
	Prevention	Commercial/Senior
	Respiratory	Commercial

Note. Integrated Healthcare Association (2020b).

Advantages

One of the advantages to providers participating in healthcare incentive programs may be the consistency of coding. Programs use standard code sets, such as ICD-10 for diagnoses, CPT, and HCPCS for procedures (Jortberg et al., 2020). Consistent coding allows the providers to document problems and treatments in the same manner regardless of the incentive program. Using the same code sets among healthcare stakeholders may allow ease of communication and data transmission.

Healthcare incentive program designers adjust the measures to the changing health conditions of the population. Program developers modify the metrics regularly to address population health conditions (Auerbach, 2015). Emerging health conditions, such as the COVID-19 pandemic can create unforeseen health care scenarios. The incentive measures for MY 2020 may need to include telemedicine PCP visits to assess patient health conditions and qualify for face-to-face patient care.

Including different types of healthcare providers may be an advantage. Many of the benchmarking surveys have metrics for medication adherence and unnecessary prescribing, which pharmacists can monitor (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018; Yoshikawa et al., 2021). Primary care physicians can prescribe oral diabetes or statin medications for diabetic patients. Still, if the patient does not fill the prescription, providers will not earn credit for the activity. Providers may be doing the work to qualify for a specific measure but not receive the appropriate reimbursement for patient care.

Proactive patient care, such as nutritional counseling, may have long-term benefits. Patients engaging in a healthy lifestyle and diet may delay or prevent chronic conditions with cost-effective treatments (Jortberg et al., 2020). For example, one of the newer measures for clinical quality is adolescent nutrition and physical activity counseling (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). Teaching minors about healthy lifestyle habits may reduce the onset of chronic conditions later in life. This type of patient treatment may be a long-term investment by the PCP that will benefit both the patient's health and the cost of patient care.

Medical professionals and clinicians can have input to the programs, which would create a coordinated effort to improve patient care. P4P programs are more effective when physicians contribute and define the quality measures and goals rather than the models that attempt to control physician behavior (Graefe & Markette, 2021; Waddimba et al., 2019). Physicians treat patients, and incentive program developers who include the participants in the design could have more realistic measures. Incentive program leaders who treat primary care physician business owners as stakeholders in the programs may experience higher participation rates because measures are applicable from the clinicians' view.

Disadvantages

Healthcare providers treat patients who need medical care; however, the providers may wish to control patient appointments. P4P programs with incentive payments tied to patient quality of care may cause physicians to avoid treating nonadherent patients (Mantel, 2018). Providers may avoid seeing nonadherent patients to increase their quality scores (K. J. Johnston et al., 2020; Mantel, 2018). If patients do not follow a prescribed treatment plan, the provider may not receive credit for the measure. For example, a physician could write a mammogram referral, but the patient refuses the appointment. The provider took the time to create the referral for the procedure and will not receive credit because the procedure did not occur.

Primary care physician business owners managing the care of patients earn a monthly amount to pay for treatment. Niederman et al. (2017) confirmed providers receive payments for patients enrolled in managed care health plans based on health conditions. Managed care capitation models pay the amount regardless of health outcomes or the cost providers incurred to perform the treatment (Koenecke, 2019; Niederman et al., 2017). There could be potential for unethical providers to avoid expensive treatment options. If clinicians do not document patient health conditions, such as diabetes, the health plan payments may not be adequate to cover the treatment costs.

Incentive program managers should audit participant submissions for accuracy. P4P programs have the inherent flaw of encouraging fraudulent provider behavior for higher compensation (Dick, 2018). The Department of Managed Health Care conducts audits to certify there is no fraud or abuse by the providers against patients or programs (DHCS, 2019). Checks and balances of submitted claims and patient treatments are necessary for programs to be successful. When physicians submit fraudulent records for reimbursement, they divert funds from legitimate primary care physician business owners.

Primary care physician business owners may choose not to participate in the healthcare incentive programs because of the demanding requirements. Casalino et al. (2016) and Van Rossum et al. (2015) found that some providers will not participate in the incentive programs due to the overwhelming number of measurements for different applications and the costs of completing measure requirements. Healthcare providers may need to address a patient's healthcare concerns with several tasks such as lab orders, prescriptions, or medical procedures. Some physicians may not have the time during an appointment to review the incentive program measure qualifications.

Healthcare providers may not wish to participate in the P4P incentive programs because of the costs. Developing a vision for improvement, fostering healthcare partnerships, enhancing existing infrastructure, leveraging resources, and managing the necessary trade-offs to improve benchmark adherence could mitigate participation cost concerns (Lee et al., 2019). When clinicians feel supported, they may be more apt to participate. An increase in participation might start the cycle of incentive payments if providers have assistance in meeting program requirements.

Some providers may not see the expected results from the medical care provided to patients. There is no evidence that P4P programs significantly improved the quality of patient care (Papanicolas et al., 2017; Ryan et al., 2017). Providers using that reasoning may be the catalyst for changing the incentive programs from reactive treatments to preventive measures. Primary care physician business owners may find it more economical to invest in proactive activities, such as influenza immunizations, rather than incur the costs of patient hospitalization.

Transition

Section 1 contained the business problem of this study and the approach to analyze the effect of participation in P4P incentive programs on profitability. FST was used as the lens with which to view the problem. In the academic literature review, I presented the literature search strategy and the application of this information to the applied business problem. This section also contained the FST as well as complementary and conflicting theories. Lastly, I described the study variables and healthcare incentive programs.

Section 2 will include a description of the role of the researcher and the importance of bias mitigation to make certain the study results were reliable and valid. This section will also contain the participant attributes which qualified primary care physician business owners for this study. The selected methodology and design will be

discussed, as will the reasons why a quantitative design and a correlational method were appropriate. The data collection and analysis techniques appropriate for this study will be presented. Section 3 will contain the findings and a detailed analysis of the data. Section 3 will also include application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

Understanding the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability is important to primary care physician business owners when considering whether to participate in P4P incentive programs. In this study, I identified the correlation between tenets of the stakeholder theory in relationship to P4P incentive program participation. Knowing the correlation between the variables and the stakeholders could help MG owners develop strategies to increase profitability while mitigating the costs of patient care.

In Section 2, I define the research method and design for the study. I will describe the participants and the qualifications to participate. I will discuss the ethical considerations for using healthcare industry data that could have impacted the study. I conclude Section 2 with the data collection and analysis process, as well as the reliability and validity of the appropriate instruments for this study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The targeted population consisted of managed-care commercial health plan patients between the ages of 18 and 65 in the Inland Empire region of southern California. The independent variables were incentive program costs and incentive payments. The dependent variable was profitability. The implications for social change included the potential for expanded patient services and increased patient care opportunities to create a healthier society.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the quantitative researcher is to analyze data results using objective statistical methods (Saunders et al., 2015). Researchers should be aware of any bias in the data collection process and ensure the data is complete and accurate (Bossuyt & Van Kenhove, 2018; Burgess et al., 2019). Research bias can appear in many forms (Beals et al., 2018; Burgess et al., 2019). Challenges to researcher bias could be the topic, the method, or the participants. I collect and submit the data necessary for healthcare incentive programs on behalf of my employer's clients and analyze the program results for ways to improve quality metric scores.

The researcher is responsible for recording and analyzing data to produce reliable results (Ashour, 2018). The role of the researcher is to understand controlling the research plan and to adhere to the institutional review board (IRB)-approved plan (Melbøe, 2018). I obtained permission from my employer to use secondary data. Y. H. Kim and Henderson (2015) found that using secondary data will reduce unintentional research bias, which may have resulted from my relationship with the topic or participants.

It was rare for me to have any interaction with participating clients during business activities. Researchers can experience the need to balance integrity and data gathering techniques (Ashour, 2018; Burgess et al., 2019). I retrieved the data elements from the governing body's website for the incentive programs. The results of the file submissions were available on the same website. LeCroix et al. (2017) suggested the researcher should remain objective even if they are qualified to extend the relationship with the participants because of previous experience.

The Belmont Report established the principles of respect for persons, beneficence, and justice for researchers to help ensure ethical treatment of study participants (The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). The participants in this study were data from primary care physician business owners; there was no contact with patients. I used de-identified patient treatment data and adhered to the first principle of *The Belmont Report* by ensuring all patient information remained confidential. Secondly, I demonstrated beneficence by explaining the potential patient benefits if primary care physician business owners participated in the incentive programs. The third principle of justice applied to all patients of the primary care physician business owners who could have benefitted from the additional treatment required by the incentive programs.

Participants

The participants for this study were de-identified diagnosis and treatment data from primary care physician business owners from the Inland Empire region of southern California. The data was from completed appointments between January 1, 2018, and December 31, 2018. The 2018 measurement year is the most recent year available for incentive program results (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). The demographic elements used in the incentive program submission are age, gender, dates of service, provider specialty, ICD-10 codes, and CPT codes (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2019a). Some measures, such as hypertension and colon cancer screenings, are not gender-dependent (Quality Payment Program, 2018).

California law mandates physicians must own patient medical records so that business entities will not interfere with treatment decisions (Milken Institute School of Public Health, 2012). For this reason, the primary care physician business owners provided authorization to use de-identified patient data. Researchers can mitigate ethical risks by using secondary data (Cornelissen, 2016). Because I analyzed secondary data from physicians who participated in incentive programs and did not participate in incentive programs, the physician organizations were categorized into two groups for comparison. The first group of business owners participated in a P4P incentive program and were eligible for incentive payments earned from the data submissions. The second group of participants did not participate in the P4P incentive programs.

Research Method and Design

Selecting the appropriate method for a study is an important decision for the researcher. The methods to conduct studies are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Park and Park (2016) suggested the researcher should select a quantitative methodology to evaluate the relationship between a dependent, measurable variable and the independent variables, which applied to this study. Therefore, I selected the quantitative method and correlational design for the research.

Research Method

For this study, I selected a quantitative method. Quantitative methodology is appropriate when a researcher analyzes numerical data or survey results (Goertzen, 2017; Saunders et al., 2015). The relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability variables was examined. Quantitative researchers remain detached from the information for objective analysis, and qualitative researchers engage the problem and seek to comprehend the problem (Firestone, 1987). The researcher can structure the interview questions to discover and identify the intersectionality experience of the participants and the variables (Windsong, 2018). The data results of the incentive program submissions were used to compare the performance results of the participants. Therefore, a quantitative methodology was appropriate for my study.

The second method I considered was qualitative. The qualitative method is appropriate when researchers use observation and interpretation to define new knowledge (Blaikie, 2018; Rahi, 2017). Yin (2018) stated the qualitative method is appropriate to test an established theory. Qualitative researchers can take advantage of the approach by utilizing interviews to expand their understanding of the relationship between the variables. The qualitative methodology is appropriate when the researcher is discovering the reason for a problem instead of expanding current analyses.

The study was in the healthcare industry, and a qualitative study could have encompassed protected health information discovered during an interview. Park and Park (2016) recommended the qualitative method for the discovery of a phenomenon and the quantitative method for research justification. The qualitative method is subjective observation or interaction, while the quantitative is objective, usually structured, and impersonal. The results of this study include an analysis of objective data elements and not interpretations of subjective observation. Observing business operations or interpreting survey responses was not performed for data gathering purposes; therefore, the qualitative method was not appropriate for this study.

The mixed-method approach is the third option I considered for the study. Saunders et al. (2015) stated the mixed-method process combines data collection techniques from quantitative and qualitative methods combined with analytical analysis. For example, the researcher could use a qualitative interview to solicit answers and categorize the text with numerical values. Saunders et al. (2015) listed mixed methods as an option for a pragmatic philosophical approach. The philosophy combines objectivism and subjectivism, which describes quantitative and qualitative methodologies (Saunders et al., 2015). Aggregated data that incentive program analysts publish annually were analyzed in this study; interviews were not conducted. Only the results of participation in incentive programs were reviewed for this study, not the reasons for participation.

Researchers should apply the mixed-method approach when attempting to understand the impetus and results of a decision (Mabila, 2017). Researchers collect and analyze quantitative data first and then seek to understand the qualitative aspect of the findings in a mixed-method study (Alavi et al., 2018). Because my research question could not be answered with qualitative research, the mixed-method approach was not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

I selected a correlational design for the study. There are three research designs available to researchers developing a quantitative study. The three methods are correlational, experimental, and quasi-experimental (Wells et al., 2015). Researchers can use the correlational design to examine the relationship between independent and dependent variables (Saunders et al., 2015). Because this study was an examination of the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability, the correlational design was appropriate.

Experimental and quasi-experimental designs were other options for consideration. Wells et al. (2015) suggested researchers should use an experimental design when conducting a quantitative study with continuous participant observations. Participant behavior and interactions were not observed to gather data for this study; rather, data from MG financial and treatment records and data from regulatory agencies were correlated for this study. Therefore, the experimental design was not appropriate.

Quasi-experimental was the third design available for this study. Becker et al. (2017) explained that the quasi-experimental design is appropriate when researchers are examining a cause-and-effect relationship between variables by manipulating the variable values. The variable values in this study did not change because the aim of this study was to examine the relationship between two independent variables and one dependent variable.

Population and Sampling

Participation in P4P healthcare incentive programs is voluntary. For this reason, primary care physician business owners who choose to participate and those who do not participate were selected. The Integrated Healthcare Association committee members defined each measure set with specific requirements; however, there are two general exclusions for the overall population qualifications. Exclusions apply to patients in the denominator if they received hospice care at any time during the measurement year or have a disqualifying condition (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). For example, a patient would be excluded from the breast cancer screening measure if the individual received a double mastectomy.

Population

The population for this study was managed-care commercial health plan patients between the ages of 18 and 65. The patient's PCP may or may not have participated in the AMP commercial incentive program. Additionally, not all health plans participated in the AMP commercial incentive program. The population had healthcare coverage in 2018 with a participating health plan. For comparison, the population was split into two groups. The first group contained patients having a PCP who participated in the AMP commercial incentive program. The second group comprised patients with the same type of managed-care commercial coverage but whose PCP did not participate in the AMP commercial incentive program. To be included in a measure for any P4P incentive program, patients had a specific demographic attribute or health condition that qualified the patient for the submitted measurement category (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). All PCPs met the minimum requirement of 30 qualifying patients in a measure for participation in the P4P incentive programs.

To obtain meaningful results, an adequate number of patients had a specific medical condition or demographic qualifier to be statistically significant for the quality measure. For example, to submit data for the colorectal cancer screening measurement, a PCP must have at least 30 patients who are over 51 years old as of December 31 of the measurement year, or patients must have a diagnosis of diabetes to qualify for the Controlled Diabetes measure (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2020a). Primary care physicians are eligible to participate in AMP commercial incentive program. Patients seen only by specialist providers were not in the population of this study because specialist providers do not perform the procedures that qualify patients for the P4P incentive program measurement numerators.

Sampling

Quantitative researchers should obtain an appropriate sampling type and size to safeguard the validity of the results. Nonprobabilistic purposive sampling was used for this study to help ensure data contains specific criteria related to this study (see Bryman, 2012; Serra et al., 2018). Those purposively sampled for this study were from deidentified patient records having demographics or diagnoses which qualified for submission to the P4P incentive program. For this specific qualification, probabilistic or random sampling of data was not appropriate for the study.

Other appropriate nonprobabilistic sampling typologies are convenience and snowball. A researcher using a convenience sampling procedure uses data currently at his

or her disposal, which meets the criteria of the study (Emerson, 2016). I considered using convenience sampling because of work-related access to appropriate data. However, to measure specific criteria, the purposive technique was more suitable. When a researcher needs criteria with conditions that are related or a subset that results from the primary condition, the snowball typology is appropriate (Emerson, 2016). Some P4P incentive measures employ related conditions (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018); however, for this study, only those measures with a distinct diagnosis were included. For that reason, the snowball typology was not as applicable as the purposive typology.

Researchers should obtain an appropriate sample size to help ensure the validity of the study results. A power analysis using G*Power 3.1.9.4 software was conducted to determine the proper sample size for the study. An a priori power analysis, assuming a medium effect size ($f^2 = .15$), $\alpha = .05$, and two predictor variables, identified that a minimum sample size of 68 participants was required to achieve a power of .80 (see Figure 1).

Figure 1

Power as a Function of Sample Size



Ethical Research

The data for the study was de-identified patient information sourced from primary care physician business owners, including procedures and health conditions that qualified for predefined measures in an incentive program. Health plan contracts and incentive program parameters offered by health plans and regulatory agencies in California were reviewed for incentive payment levels. Research ethics exist to avoid harming participants, ensure excellent research practice, and risk mitigation (Saunders et al., 2015). The secondary data for the study was available through access to clients, internal contracts, and external vendors in California. The risk of harming participants in this study was very low, and the risk of revealing confidential contract information was minimal. To safeguard participant confidentiality is protected, the published dissertation will include Walden's IRB approval number 06-02-21-0762917. The IRB members provided the approval number, which demonstrates compliance with informed consent

and ethical consideration regulations (see Cugini, 2015). Additionally, the data will be retained in a secured location for 5 years from the official completion date of the study. After the holding period of 5 years, the data will be permanently deleted from the data retention files.

Data Collection Instruments

The study involved measuring the variables of incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability to understand the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. Reddy et al. (2017) stated that the three stages of data collection are acquisition, preprocessing, and integration. First, the costs each primary care physician business owner incurred to participate in the incentive programs will be collected via secondary financial data. For the primary care physician business owners who did not participate in the incentive programs, I reviewed the costs for similarities. Second, the appropriate patient data was collected from the practice management applications to determine if providers were performing the treatments necessary to qualify for the incentive payments. Third, the potential incentive payments for participating in the healthcare incentive programs were reviewed. The ROI of costs compared to incentive payments received was examined to determine if incentive payments were greater than the costs incurred by the participants.

Independent Variables

The first predictor variable was the incentive program costs. Costs are not a psychological construct, so using an existing instrument was not appropriate. Kjell et al.

(2019) stated that psychological constructs are appropriate to use when measuring emotions, thoughts, or attitudes. Financial data was used for this variable.

For the incentive program participation costs, each primary care physician business owner identified the costs of each process they followed to participate in the incentive programs. For the participants who chose not to participate in incentive programs, I reviewed their costs for the same type of expenses. For example, participants might have incurred the costs of a mail campaign to patients, but the campaign may not have been for the purpose of incentive program participation.

The second predictor variable was incentive payments. Published information from the participating health plans on the requirements of each program and the associated levels of payment to participants was used to understand each program. After reviewing the incentive payment programs for commonality, I identified the measures to include in the study.

The information for the independent variables was ratio data and was appropriate for quantitative studies (Cay et al., 2015; Matias, 2018). Aquino et al. (2018) proposed that descriptive survey questions such as *how much* are appropriate for quantitative studies. Because there is no existing survey instrument to measure healthcare incentive program costs or payments, no published reliability or validity information is available.

Dependent Variable

To measure the effect incentive program participation has on profitability, the cost-to-payment ratio for the incentive programs was calculated. The ratio was calculated as cost/payment, resulting in the percent spent on incentive programs compared to the

incentive payments. Profitability measures are integral to analyzing a company's performance (Margaretha & Supartika, 2016). The cost-to-payment ratio was derived using the information gathered for the independent variables. The percent of net revenue the payments represent was also calculated. The source for the information was data gathered from the practice management application. I used SPSS software to calculate the cost-to-payment ratio and the percentage of net revenue the payments represent.

Data Collection Technique

MG physician business owners or IPA physician owners were solicited for participation in this study by contacting them via email and a follow-up letter. Each participant was provided with an explanation for permission to use de-identified patient data. The participants were also provided with an explanation of why the data elements were appropriate for this study. The practice management application held demographic data about each medical group, such as the number of physicians, physician specialties, and the number of commercial HMO patients eligible for a P4P incentive program. Pires et al. (2016) found that the data collection step of the process can be the most timeconsuming and costly for researchers.

The primary care physician business owners were asked to provide de-identified demographic and diagnosis data that qualified patients for the incentive program measure denominators. The primary care physician business owners were also asked to provide the procedures PCPs performed for the qualified patients, which met the numerator requirements for incentive program measures. The first source was de-identified clinical data from each participant's electronic medical record (EMR) software. Each participant granted permission for me to extract the data.

If granting personal access to extract the requested data from each client's EMR was not possible, I would have provided the participants with a data template to use for extractions. Using a template would have helped to ensure the data files were in the same format, and the data files would import into a database for analysis. A disadvantage of using EMR data is missing components within the patient records with no valid process to impute the information (M. O. Kim et al., 2015; Stiglic et al., 2017). However, Stiglic et al. (2017) found the advantages of using the data in an EMR system were consistency and the reduction of data anomalies. The patient demographic, diagnosis, and procedure data were gathered to analyze if clinicians were performing the procedures which qualified for the healthcare incentive programs.

The second data source was the quality program management software used by participants to submit data to the healthcare incentive programs. I used the software to identify if the procedures performed met the objectives of the healthcare incentive program, regardless of whether or not to participate in the program. For example, to qualify for diabetic measurements, two diagnoses of diabetes must be in the patient chart for the measurement year (CMS, 2018). Nonparticipating primary care physician business owners may only diagnose diabetic patients once a year.

The third source of data was the data set for healthcare incentive programs. The aggregated data were available on a government public website. These data sets are available after the incentive program manager calculates each measure result from data

submitted by primary care physician business owners. An advantage of a public database is the ease of data access by the researcher. When using a public database for information, it is essential to review the algorithms to avoid misclassification and ensure data validity (Zarrinpar et al., 2020). I used the aggregated set of data to calculate the program data analysis for comparison to the study participants.

Data Analysis

The research question that will guide this study was: What is the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability?

I tested the following hypotheses:

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

 H_1 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

The invocation of multiple regression analysis served to explore the relationship between the dependent and independent variables using SPSS software. The SPSS software output helped to categorize the descriptive statistics for the mean and standard deviation of the data distribution. Researchers use multiple linear regression analysis to evaluate the correlation between two independent variables and one dependent variable (Chen et al., 2016; Plonsky & Oswald, 2017). The bivariate correlation, or Pearson's correlation coefficient, was not appropriate for this study because it involves only one predictor and one independent variable. The multiple linear regression analysis was
appropriate for the research because the study involved an evaluation of the relationship between two predictors (independent variables) and one dependent variable.

Multiple linear regression analysis involved testing normality, linearity, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity. Saunders et al. (2015) stated all four validity test results must be appropriate to avoid a Type I or Type II error. Matias (2018) specified that testing the data distribution for normality will indicate the validity of the sampled data. The results of a linearity test will indicate to what degree a change in the dependent variable will affect a change in the predictor variable (Saunders et al., 2015). Multicollinearity testing will provide to what degree the variables are linearly related (Matias, 2018). Testing for homoscedasticity of the variables will denote the equal variances in the data (Saunders et al., 2015).

The data analysis was conducted with several assumptions that were tested to help ensure the results were valid. The assumptions were measurement error, normality, linearity, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity (S. Kim et al., 2015). Measurement errors were mitigated using Cronbach's alpha test to ensure internal consistency and scale reliability. A normal distribution is important to confirm the researcher sampled data appropriately (Matias, 2018). Histograms were created to visually inspect the distribution. The third assumption of linearity indicates the appropriate type of relationship exists between the variables (Matias, 2018). A scatter plot of the data was created to determine the relationship. A linear relationship existed, so bootstrapping techniques did not need to be employed to examine possible assumption violations. An analysis of the scatterplot also protected research results against a violation of homoscedasticity (Matias, 2018). I mitigated the assumption of multicollinearity by using a normal probability plot.

Researchers producing quantitative studies must understand the scales of measurement to warrant the appropriate application. Scales of measurement provide a basis for identifying and categorizing variables (Brunsdon, 2018; Matias, 2018). The four types are nominal, ordinal, interval, and ratio. The level of analytical opportunities increases with each level. The nominal variable is the least analytical option, and the ratio variable type allows for the most analytical possibilities (Matias, 2018).

The variables for this study were nominal, ordinal, and ratio data. The patient characteristic categories were nominal data. For example, some measurements, such as breast cancer prevention, require females receive a screening once a year to qualify for the numerator (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2018). While males can have a diagnosis of breast cancer (Mayo Clinic, 2020), only females qualify for the denominator. The gender of male or female was nominal data.

The responses to the Likert-type scale elements used in the participant surveys will generate ordinal data to summarize the range of answers. It is not appropriate for a researcher to assume the value for an ordinal scaled response is the same for every respondent. For example, the Likert-type scale may be used to obtain a response such as "most likely." The respondents' selection might correspond to a value of 4.0, but the answers could be between the range of 3.8 and 4.2; therefore, calculating the difference between the two responses may not be appropriate.

The ratio data for this study are the patient counts for the numerators and denominators for each measurement. Matias (2018) posited that ratio measurements include data from nominal and ordinal scales. Using the same breast cancer prevention example, the number of females who qualified for the denominator and how many female patients received the screening can be measured. To determine a measurement ratio, the number of patients who received the screening was divided by the number of patients who should have received the screening. The data from participant EMRs and public websites were ratio data. Researchers can perform the most sophisticated statistical analysis with ratio data (Saunders et al., 2015). The complexity is possible because all mathematical calculations, such as division and multiplication, are available with ratio data.

Researchers need to synthesize data coming from disparate sources for analysis. The process involved data scrubbing to normalize the data points into a data set appropriate for analysis (Birtwhistle & Williamson, 2015). The de-identified records from the EMRs did not have missing data. Therefore, the option in SPSS to exclude records that do not have the expected elements was not used. Imputing missing data was not an appropriate option for this study. Survey respondents hold the power of information, and the researcher regains power during the data analysis stage (Anyan, 2013). Only existing data sets that were appropriate for submission to the healthcare incentive programs were examined.

Study Validity

Researchers should consider threats to the study validity and mitigate those threats as much as possible. The most basic definition of a valid, reliable study is one for which the researcher uses multiple methods to verify results and designs the study so that replication can occur (Matias, 2018; Saunders et al., 2015). P. Johnston et al. (2018) demonstrated extending psychometric measures with reliability estimates to increase validity. Triangulation is also a reliable method to verify study results with a separate source of information (Saunders et al., 2015). The results of this study may influence primary care business owners on their decision to participate or not participate in healthcare incentive programs. By ensuring a valid study, business leaders will receive accurate information upon which they can make decisions.

Internal Validity

Because this was a quantitative study, the threats to consider were internal validity and external validity. Internal validity is an indicator of cause-and-effect relationships resulting from the data analysis (Borntrager et al., 2015; Dalal & Carter, 2015). Three threats to internal validity are conditional, analytical, and instrumentation (Torre & Picho, 2016). A researcher should be cognizant of a conditional threat when the historical and natural evolution of the environment affects the study conditions (Torre & Picho, 2016). The internal threat of analytical errors occurs when outlying statistical points drive the analysis (Torre & Picho, 2016). The loss of participants, testing inconsistency, or the incorrect instrument application constitute instrumentation threats. L. D. Williams and Aber (2015) suggested researchers should use an internal validity

review when using observed covariation to correlate a cause-and-effect relationship. The study was a correlational study that was not subject to internal validity because the study was not to determine a cause-and-effect relationship of the variables.

External Validity

External threats to study validity included instrument reliability, data assumptions, and sample size (Dialsingh et al., 2015; Lu & Qiao, 2016; Torre & Picho, 2016). Unknown factors affecting results, which the researcher does not recognize, will threaten the validity of the instrument results (Trani et al., 2015). Researchers can make data assumption errors when results do not apply to different environments (Almeida et al., 2015; Trani et al., 2015). An incorrect sample size, either too large or too small, can skew the study results (Matias, 2018). A biased sample of participants can also skew the results because the sample size is not sufficient for a correct inference (Kouvelioti & Vagenas, 2015). Implementing the G*Power 3.1.9.4 software ensured a statistically appropriate sample size.

A researcher can use external validity as an indicator of feasibility for a more extensive study (Kreps & Roblin, 2019; Stuart et al., 2015). SPSS statistical software was used to help ensure the external validity of this study. Graphical representations of the data provided a visual demonstration of the results. The numerical and visual presentation provided a foundation for the propagation of the results to a larger population.

Threats to Statistical Conclusion Validity

Statistical conclusion validity represents the imperative to accurately assess the relationship strength between the independent and dependent variables (Moquin &

Wakefield, 2016). Threats to statistical conclusion validity are Type I and Type II errors (Lu & Qiao, 2016). In statistical analysis, a Type I error indicates a relationship between the variables which does not exist (Lawman et al., 2015). If a researcher does not properly mitigate a Type I error, the null hypothesis may be rejected and invalidate the study results.

Conversely, a Type II error occurs with the acceptance of a false null hypothesis (Pericchi & Pereira, 2016). Researchers may draw incorrect conclusions if participants do not provide appropriate answers or complete data sets for statistical analysis (Cheung et al., 2017). Incorporation of the triangulation of data will mitigate threats to statistical conclusion validity.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 contained the process to conduct a study of the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. This section included the role of the researcher and the importance of bias mitigation to help ensure the study results are reliable and valid. This section also included the attributes that qualify primary care physician business owners for this study. Section 2 contained the study methodology and design and why a quantitative correlational design was appropriate. Section 2 included the reasons for selecting nonprobabilistic purposive sampling to obtain the data and provided a description of the process to determine the appropriate sample size using G*Power software. This section also included the importance of ethical research and the protection of participant data. The definition of the data collection instrument and technique, including the analysis techniques appropriate for this study, were presented. Finally, I identified the importance of reliability and validity. Section 3 will contain the findings and a detailed analysis of the data. Section 3 will also include application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The independent variables were incentive program costs and incentive payments. The dependent variable was profitability. The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was accepted. Incentive program costs and incentive payments significantly predicted profitability.

To collect data, I contacted primary care physician business owners through my professional network. The minimum sample size was calculated using the G*Power program and determined to be 68. A total of 73 primary care physician business owners participated in the study. The medical directors of each primary care physician-owned business granted permission to obtain secondary de-identified patient diagnosis and visit data, the amount of incentive costs, and the sum of incentive payments received for MY 2018. I used publicly available AMP commercial incentive program measure information and aggregated data results.

Results from the regression analysis, F(2,70) = 1343.6, p = <.001, $R^2 = .975$ indicated a significant relationship exists between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. Interpretation of the results suggests primary care physician business owners who actively engage in the P4P incentive programs are more likely to receive a profitable return related to the incentive program costs.

Presentation of the Findings

I employed a quantitative correlational design implemented with standard multiple regression data analysis features available in the IBM SPSS application for my study. Multiple linear regression is a powerful, flexible analysis model which uses two or more predictor variables to estimate the criterion variable (Acikkar & Sivrikaya, 2018). I examined the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The data collection process entailed extracting de-identified patient data to determine eligibility in the P4P incentive program. The practice management application held demographic data about each medical group, such as physician groups, physician specialties, and the number of commercial HMO patients eligible for a P4P incentive program assigned to each provider. The quality management application held the P4P incentive scores. I used this information to determine participation levels for each provider. I obtained the incentive payment information from the financial application used to process incentive payments. The data collected from the three applications represented the information required to examine the hypotheses and determine if a significant relationship existed between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability.

Descriptive Statistics

A total of 73 primary care physician business owners participated in the study. Interpretation of the results indicated no significant violations of multicollinearity, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, or independence of residuals. Table 3 depicts descriptive statistics for the study variables.

Table 3

Variable	М	SD
Incentive Program Costs	2.89	1.704
Incentive payments	4.19	2.654
Profitability	4.03	2.494

Means and Standard Deviations for Study Variables

Note. N = 73.

Outliers

The boxplot in Figure 2 represents the distribution of profitability with the median amount of \$1,677, represented by the line, and a mean of \$1,568. The area above and below the line within the box represents the profits for most of the providers. The extended lines represent the upper and lower limit of the data. The boxplot displays three outliers above the upper limit. These represent the highest profitability achieved by participating providers.

Figure 2



Boxplot of Profitability Values

Histograms of Variables

The histograms in Figure 3 demonstrate the frequency of incentive program costs each provider incurred during MY2018. The nonparticipating providers spent between \$5 and \$40 during the year communicating with patients having commercial HMO health plans. The participating providers spent between \$40 and \$60 to communicate with patients with commercial HMO health plans and qualify for the P4P incentive program.

Figure 4 illustrates incentive payments providers received from health plans for nonparticipating and participating providers. The nonparticipating providers did receive less than \$900 for their patients who received their annual wellness visits. However, the participating providers received at least \$1,500, with a few earning more than \$4000.

The dependent variable of profitability histogram, shown in Figure 5, demonstrates higher profitability for the participating providers. The distribution is comparable to the payment histogram. The distribution of the cost histogram for nonparticipating providers compared to the profitability histogram indicates the incentive payments may not cover the costs.

Figure 3





Figure 4







Histogram of Dependent Variable Profitability



Tests of Assumptions

I categorized the data into 10 levels to stratify the disparate scales. Table 4 lists the algorithm for the categorization. I applied the scales below to evaluate the assumptions of multicollinearity, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals.

Table 4

Category	Cost Scale	Payment Scale	Profitability Scale
1	0-20	0 - 450	0 - 450
2	21 - 40	451 - 900	451 - 900
3	41 - 60	901 - 1350	901 - 1350
4	61 - 80	1351 - 1800	1351 - 1800
5	81 - 100	1801 - 2250	1801 - 2250
6	101 - 120	2251 - 2700	2251 - 2700
7	121 - 140	2701 - 3150	2701 - 3150
8	141 - 160	3151 - 3600	3151 - 3600
9	161 - 180	3601 - 4050	3601 - 4050
10	181 - 200	4051 - 4500	4051 - 4500

Variable Categorization Scale

Correlation Analysis

I evaluated multicollinearity by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. The bivariate correlation between incentive program costs and

incentive payments was .008 (see Table 5), indicating a negligible relationship. Therefore, the violation of the assumption of multicollinearity was not evident.

The magnitude of linear association between the independent and dependent variables was determined using a correlation of coefficient analysis. The correlation between incentive program costs and profitability demonstrated a weak relationship of .007 and was significant at p < .001. A strong, significant correlation of .987 and p < .001 existed between incentive payments and profitability. Table 5 displays the correlation coefficients.

Table 5

Variable	Costs	Payments	Profitability
Costs	1.00	.008	.007
Payments	.008	1.00	.987
Profitability	.007	.987	1.00

Note. N = 73.

Inferential Statistics

I tested for normality using Q-Q plots for the groups of participating primary care physician business owners and nonparticipating primary care physician business owners. Figures 6 and 7 demonstrate normal distribution for nonparticipating and participating primary care physician business owners. I also used a P-P plot and a histogram to demonstrate normality for regression standardized residuals. Figure 8 displays the P-P results. Figure 9 displays the histogram.

Figure 6







Normality Plot for Participating Providers



Figure 8

P-P Plot for Dependent Variable Residuals



Figure 9

Histogram of Dependent Variable Residual Distribution



Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The targeted population consisted of managed-care commercial health plan patients between the ages of 18 and 65 in the Inland Empire of southern California. The independent variables were incentive program costs and incentive payments. The dependent variable was profitability. This study may have implications for social change because primary care physician business owners may increase their efforts to provide preventive patient care. Providing services in alignment with the P4P incentive programs may positively impact profitability.

The results of this study reflect the opportunity of a new revenue stream if primary care physician business owners participate fully in a P4P incentive program. Physicians need to take the time and effort to submit all required information to receive the total amount of incentive payments (Glover et al., 2018). Suppose physicians use the results of this study to justify the extra effort to perform required patient services. In that case, they could see an increase in profitability. The results of my research demonstrated an increase in profitability as participation in incentive programs increases. Costs were not a contributing factor to profitability. Some nonparticipating primary care physician business owners incurred higher costs than payments because the required services were either not performed or not reported.

Primary care physician business owners may use the results of my study to understand the benefits of participating in P4P incentive programs. Clinicians already perform many patient care services during wellness visits that are part of the incentive program requirements (Integrated Healthcare Association, 2020a). For example, the difference between meeting the minimum requirement might be a few patients. In that case, a minimal effort could result in additional revenue for a physician's practice. A concerted effort by primary care physician business owners to schedule patient visits for preventive care is beneficial for patient wellness and profitability.

Implications for Social Change

Primary care physician business owners interested in greater profitability should engage patients in medical care decisions. Jones et al. (2018) identified stakeholder engagement as a competitive advantage. Physicians who use the additional revenue to increase support staff or provide services for low-income communities may achieve a competitive advantage. A strong bond between the clinician and the patient could create a long-term relationship supporting continued medical office operations.

Medical clinics need to generate revenue to stay in business and serve the surrounding communities. Creixans-Tenas and Arimany-Serrat (2018) found healthcare leaders can increase financial stability with long-term projects. An example of a longterm project is planning for and participating in P4P incentive programs. Physicians could use additional revenue for nonstandard services such as mobile vaccination clinics or an auxiliary home-health nurse for patients without transportation. Proactively addressing the healthcare of patients could improve the lives of the community.

Recommendations for Action

My correlational study revealed the financial benefit received by the participating primary care physician business owners. It would behoove health plan leaders to share these results with healthcare organization leaders and educate primary care physicians on the potential benefits of full participation in P4P incentive programs. Convincing primary care physician business owners to invest in proactive campaigns may involve a change in office culture. Physicians bringing in patients for wellness visits rather than only reactive treatments might provide more opportunities for better incentive program scores. Suggested actions to increase participation include

- shorter measurement periods,
- access to patients and necessary services,
- educational seminars regarding new revenue streams, and
- strategies for encouraging patient wellness visits.

Recommendations for Further Research

For this study, I investigated the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability of commercial health plan patients. The results indicated a relationship between higher profitability and incentive program costs and payments. Primary care physician business owners may need to consider many factors when deciding whether to participate in incentive programs involving treatment for commercial patients. Further studies are needed to understand the barriers to participation in P4P commercial incentive programs and the benefits of preventive healthcare for commercial patients.

Reflections

In preparing for this study, I anticipated a high return on investment for the participating primary care physician owners. I did not expect any profitability for the nonparticipating providers. The reason for my initial opinion involved professional knowledge of the incentive programs and the participating providers. During the review of the incentive payments earned, I concluded the nonparticipating providers benefited from the robust actions of the participating providers. These actions included communication campaigns to patients and promotions among the clinicians for specific measures.

For example, suppose one member of a household received encouragement to see their participating primary care physician. In that case, other members of the family may visit a nonparticipating primary care physician. The profitability for nonparticipating providers was lower than participating providers but still existed for a small group. The results of my study indicated the potential for a reliable revenue stream if all providers in a medical group participate fully in commercial P4P incentive programs.

I experienced many delays and barriers to developing this study. Working in the healthcare industry during a pandemic slowed progress for almost a year. When I was able to work on this study, I was exhausted and made mistakes. Many new demands on my time existed to address new regulatory requirements and multiple analyses of COVID-19 patient conditions.

Patient-facing healthcare providers, including physicians, nursing staff, and clinic office staff, worked in hazardous conditions to provide patient care. Because of these

conditions, many contracted the virus, and some did not recover. A shortage of nursing staff added a level of complexity to servicing patients. In some situations, administrative staff substituted for clinic staffing outages.

The introduction of new technology for telehealth visits worked well for some providers with closed clinics. However, technical support and reporting requests increased significantly. Other provider offices remained open on a limited basis during the pandemic for high-priority patient care. Because of these reasons, I anticipate low scores for the incentive program measures for the 2020 and 2021 measurement years. The criteria for commercial patients are preventive, and those visits were virtually nonexistent for 2020. This trend will likely continue into 2021.

Conclusion

In this study, I examined the relationship between incentive program costs, incentive payments, and profitability. The results of this study established that incentive program costs were not a statistically significant predictor of profitability. Incentive payments stemming from participation in incentive programs were a statistically significant predictor of profitability. All providers incurred the same incentive program costs per patient. However, providers participating in incentive programs experienced higher payments. Therefore, considering that incentive payments stemming from participation in commercial incentive programs is a construct in satisfying or fulfilling the FST principles of trust, CSR, and economics, primary care physician business owners should consider developing strategies to achieve the measurements of P4P incentive programs. Future research on incentive program participation should focus on the barriers to participation in P4P commercial incentive programs and the benefits of preventive healthcare for commercial patients that these incentive programs measure. Furthermore, while this study measured incentive program costs and incentive payments through secondary data, observational or interview-based research on the barriers to participation in commercial P4P incentive programs can benefit primary care physician business owners. Observational or interview-based research can identify the resistance or engagement of providers in a patient care setting.

References

- Abulencia, J. (2021). The cost of cybercrime in the us healthcare sector. *Computer Fraud* & Security, 2021(11), 8–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1361-3723(21)00117-2</u>
- Acikkar, M., & Sivrikaya, O. (2018). Prediction of gross calorific value of coal based on proximate analysis using multiple linear regression and artificial neural networks.
 Turkish Journal of Electrical Engineering & Computer Sciences, 26(5), 2541–2552. <u>https://doi.org/10.3906/elk-1802-50</u>
- Aeeni, Z., Motavaseli, M., Sakhdari, K., & Dehkordi, A. M. (2018). Baumol's theory of entrepreneurial allocation: A systematic review and research agenda. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*. 25(1), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2018.09.001
- Alavi, M., Archibald, M., McMaster, R., Lopez, V., & Cleary, M. (2018). Aligning theory and methodology in mixed methods research: Before design theoretical placement. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 527– 540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1435016</u>
- Almeida, A. T., Ferreira, R. J., & Cavalcante, C. A. (2015). A review of the use of multicriteria and multi-objective models in maintenance and reliability. *IMA Journal of Management Mathematics*, 26(3), 249–271.

https://doi.org/10.1093/imaman/dpv010

Alvarez, S. A., Young, S. L., & Woolley, J. L. (2020). Creating the world's deadliest catch: The process of enrolling stakeholders in an uncertain endeavor. *Business & Society*, 59(2), 287–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650318754866</u>

- Amis, J., Barney, J., Mahoney, J. T., & Wang, H. (2020). From the editors—why we need a theory of stakeholder governance—and why this is a hard problem. *Academy of Management Review*, 45(3), 499–503.
 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2020.0181
- Anderies, J. M. (2014). Embedding built environments in social–ecological systems:
 Resilience-based design principles. *Building Research & Information*, 42(2), 130–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2013.857455</u>
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(18), 1–9. http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Aquino, E., Lee, Y., Spawn, N., & Bishop-Royse, J. (2018). The impact of burnout on doctorate nursing faculty's intent to leave their academic position: A descriptive survey research design. *Nurse Education Today*, 69(10), 35–40.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.06.027

- Armstrong, C. M., Ortigo, K. L., Avery-Leaf, S. N., & Hoyt, T. V. (2019). Cultural considerations in using mobile health in clinical care with military and veteran populations. *Psychological Services*, *16*(2), 276–280. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000252
- Arnold, D. R. (2017). Countervailing incentives in value-based payment. *Healthcare*, 5(3), 125–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.04.009
- Ashour, M. (2018). Triangulation as a powerful methodological research technique in technology-based services. *Business & Management Studies: An International*

Journal, 6(1), 193–208. https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v6i1.209

Atchessi, N., Ridde, V., & Zunzunegui, M. (2016). User fees exemptions alone are not enough to increase indigent use of healthcare services. *Health Policy and Planning*, 31(5), 674–681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czv135</u>

Auerbach, J. (2015). Creating incentives to move upstream: Developing a diversified portfolio of population health measures within payment and health care reform. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(3), 427–431.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302371

- Ball, W. D. (2017). Pay-for-performance in prison: Using healthcare economics to improve criminal justice. *Denver Law Review*, 94(3), 451–495.
 https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2765599
- Bapuji, H., Husted, B. W., Lu, J., & Mir, R. (2018). Value creation, appropriation, and distribution: How firms contribute to societal economic inequality. *Business & Society*, 57(6), 983–1009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650318758390</u>
- Baue, B., & Wood, R. (2015). Leveraging integral leadership to shift sustainability mindsets into a ThriveAbility paradigm. *Integral Leadership Review*, 279–284. <u>http://www.integralleadershipreview.com/</u>
- Baumann, M. R., & Bonner, B. L. (2017). An expectancy theory approach to group coordination: Expertise, task features, and member behavior. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 30(2), 407–419. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1954
- Baumol, W. J. (1990). Entrepreneurship: Productive, unproductive, and destructive. Journal of Political Economy, 98(5), 893–921.

https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/

Beals, T. C., Furtado, O., & Fontana, F. E. (2018). Relative age effect and academic timing in American junior college baseball. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 125(1), 147–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512517724260</u>

Becker, B. J., Aloe, A. M., Duvendack, M., Stanley, T. D., Valentine, J. C., & Fretheim, A. (2017). Quasi-experimental study designs series - paper 10: Synthesizing evidence for effects collected from quasi-experimental studies presents surmountable challenges. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *89*, 84–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.02.014</u>

- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, *2*, 8–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001</u>
- Berwick, D. M., Nolan, T. W., & Whittington, J. (2008). The triple aim: Care, health, and cost. *Health Affairs*, 27(3), 759–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.27.3.759</u>
- Bigsby, E., Halpern, S. D., & Capella, J. N. (2017). Estimating acceptability of financial health incentives. *Health Education & Behavior*, 44(4), 513–518. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198116664072
- Birtwhistle, R., & Williamson, R. (2015). Primary care electronic medical records: A new data source for research in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 187(4), 239–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.140473</u>
- Blaikie, N. (2018). Confounding issues related to determining sample size in qualitative research. International Journal of social Research Methodology, 21(5), 635–641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454644</u>

Bonnafous-Boucher, M., & Porcher, S. (2010). Towards a stakeholder society:

Stakeholder theory vs theory of civil society. *European Management Review*, 7(4), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1057/emr.2010.14

Borgonovi, E., Adinolfi, P., Palubo, R., & Piscopo, G. (2018). Framing the shades of sustainability in health care: Pitfalls and perspectives from western EU countries. *Sustainability*, 10(12), 4439–4458. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10124439</u>

- Borntrager, C. F., Chorpita, B. F., Orimoto, T., Love, A., & Mueller, C. W. (2015).
 Validity of clinician's self-reported practice elements on the monthly treatment and progress summary. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 42, 367–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-013-9363-x</u>
- Bossuyt, S., & Van Kenhove, P. (2018). Assertiveness bias in gender ethics research: Why women deserve the benefit of the doubt. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *150*(3), 727–739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3026-9</u>
- Bowling, B., White, C., & Coustasse, A. (2018). Provider reimbursement following the Affordable Care Act. *Health Care Manager*, *37*(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0000000000205
- Brunsdon, C. (2018). Quantitative methods III. *Progress in Human Geography*, 42(4), 610–621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132517717008</u>

Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods. Oxford University Press.

Burgess, D. J., Bokhour, B. G., Cunningham, B. A., Do, T., Eliacin, J., Gordon, H. S.,Gravely, A., Jones, D. M., Partin, M. R., Pope, C., Saha, S., Taylor, B. C., &Gollust, S. E. (2019). Communicating with providers about racial healthcare

disparities: The role of providers' prior beliefs on their receptivity to different narrative frames. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *102*(1), 139–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.08.030</u>

- Carnavali, F., & Arron, M. (2017). Risk adjustment in Medicare Advantage plans. *SGIM Forum*, 40(2), 14–15. <u>https://www.sgim.org</u>
- Casalino, L. P., Gans, D., Weber, R., Cea, M., Tuchovsky, A., Bishop, T. F., Miranda, Y., Frankel, B. A., Ziehler, K. B., Wong, M. M., & Evenson, T. B. (2016). US physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. *Health Affairs*, 35(3), 401–406.

https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1258

Cay, N., Ipek, A., Isik, C., Unal, O., Kartal, M. G., Arslan, H., & Bozkurt, M. (2015).
 Strain ratio measurement of femoral cartilage by real-time elastosonography:
 Preliminary results. *European Radiology*, 25(4), 987–993.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-014-3497-y

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2018). CMS standard companion guide transaction information. <u>https://www.cms.gov</u>

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019). Value-based programs. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-</u> <u>Instruments/Value-Based-Programs/MACRA-MIPS-and-APMs/MACRA-MIPS-</u> <u>and-APMs</u>

Chen, Y., Wen, Z., Peng, J., & Liu, X. (2016). Leader-follower congruence in loneliness, LMX and turnover intention. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(4), 864–879. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-06-2015-0205

- Cheung, J., Burns, D., Sinclair, R., & Sliter, M. (2017). Amazon Mechanical Turk in organizational psychology: An evaluation and practical recommendations. *Journal of Business Psychology*, 32, 347–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-</u> 016-9458-5
- Conaty, F., & Robbins, G. (2018). A stakeholder salience perspective on performance and management control systems in non-profit organisations. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 102052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2018.07.001</u>
- Cornelissen, J. P. (2016). Preserving theoretical divergence in management research:
 Why the explanatory potential of qualitative research should be harnessed rather than suppressed. *Journal of Management Studies*, *54*(3), 368–383.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12210
- Crane, B. (2020). Revisiting who, when, and why stakeholders matter: Trust and stakeholder connectedness. *Business & Society*, 59(2), 263–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650318756983</u>
- Creixans-Tenas, J., & Arimany-Serrat, N. (2018). Influential variables on the profitability of hospital companies. *Intangible Capital*, 14(1), 171–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.3926/ic.1109</u>
- Cugini, M. (2015). Successfully navigating the human subjects approval process. *Journal* of Dental Hygiene, 89, 54–56. https://jdh.adha.org
- Cunningham, C., Stitzer, M., Campbell, A. N., Pavlicova, M., Hu, M., & Nunes, E. V. (2017). Contingency management abstinence incentives: Cost and implications

for treatment tailoring. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 72, 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2015.08.010

- Dalal, D. K., & Carter, N. T. (2015). Consequences of ignoring ideal point items for applied decisions and criterion-related validity estimates. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 30, 483–498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-014-9377-2</u>
- Dal Maso, L., Mazzi, F., Soscia, M., & Terzani, S. (2018). The moderating role of stakeholder management and societal characteristics in the relationship between corporate environmental and financial performance. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 218, 322–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.04.005</u>
- Daniel, G. W., Schneider, M., Hamilton Lopez, M., & McClellan, M. B. (2018).
 Implementation of a market entry reward within the United States. *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 46(S1), 50–58.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518782915

DHCS. (2019). Audits & Investigations.

https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/individuals/Pages/AuditsInvestigations.aspx

Dialsingh, I., Austin, S., & Altman, N. (2015). Estimating the proportion of true null hypotheses when the statistics are discrete. *Bioinformatics*, 31(14), 2303–2309. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv104

Diaz, A., Merath, K., Bagante, F., Chen, Q., Akgul, O., Beal, E., Idrees, J., Olsen, G., Gani, F., & Pawlik, T. M. (2018). Surgical procedures in health professional shortage areas: Impact of a surgical incentive payment plan. *Surgery*, *164*(2), 189–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2018.03.017</u>

Dick, M. (2018). Countering pay-for-performance's unintended consequences by rethinking the physicians's duty to disclose. *Health Matrix: Journal of Law-Medicine*, 28, 403–429. <u>https://law.case.edu</u>

Dreachslin, J. L., Gail, J., Epane, J. P., & Wainio, J. (2017). Blueprint for sustainable change in diversity management and cultural competence: Lessons from the National Center for Healthcare Leadership Diversity Demonstration Project. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 62(3), 171–183.

https://doi.org/10.1097/JHM-D-15-00029

- Emami, S., & Doolen, T. L. (2015). Healthcare performance measurement: Identification of metrics for the learning and growth balanced scorecard perspective.
 International Journal of Industrial Engineering, 22(4), 426–437.
 https://journals.sfu.ca/ijietap/index.php/ijie
- Emerson, R. W. (2016). Parametric tests, their nonparametric alternatives, and degrees of freedom. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 110(5), 377–380. https://www.afb.org/publications/jvib
- Firestone, W. A. (1987). Meaning in method: The rhetoric of quantitative and qualitative research. *Educational Researcher*, 16(7), 16–21. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED292816.pdf

Fischer, M., & Heinrichs, H. (2018). Dimensions, dialect, discourse. Three political perspectives on the sustainability of the German healthcare system. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(7), 1526–1547. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071526</u>

- Freeman, R. (1984). *Strategic management: A stakeholder's approach*. Cambridge University Press.
- Freeman, R. E., Phillips, R., & Sisodia, R. (2018). Tensions in stakeholder theory. Business & Society, 59(2), 213–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650318773750</u>
- Freeman, R. E., & Phillips, R. A. (2002). Stakeholder theory: A Libertarian defense. Business Ethics Quarterly, 12(3), 331–349. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3858020</u>
- Freeman, R. E., Wicks, A. C., & Parmar, B. (2004). Stakeholder theory and "the corporate objective revisited". *Organization Science*, 15(3), 364–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1040.0066</u>
- Fritz, M. M., Rauter, R., Baumgartner, R. J., & Dentchev, N. (2018). A supply chain perspective of stakeholder identification as a tool for responsible policy and decision-making. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 81, 63–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.12.011</u>
- Garner, B. R., Lwin, A. K., Strickler, G. K., Hunter, B. D., & Shepard, D. S. (2018). Payfor-performance as a cost-effective implementation strategy: Results from a cluster randomized trial. *Implementation Science*, 13(92), 1–11.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-018-0774-1

- Geyman, J. (2021). Privatized Medicare Advantage for all: The latest assault on U.S. health care. *International Journal of Health Services*, 52(1), 141–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/00207314211051887
- Gianfelici, C., Casadei, A., & Cembali, F. (2018). The relevance of nationality and industry for stakeholder salience: An investigation through integrated reports.

Journal of Business Ethics, 150(2), 541–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3194-7</u>

- Glover, M., Duszak, R. Jr, Silva E. III,, Rao, S. K., Babb, J. S., & Rosenkrantz, A. B. (2018). Participation and payments in the PQRS Maintenance of Certification Program: Implications for future merit based payment programs. *Healthcare*, 6(1), 28–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2017.08.005</u>
- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to quantitative research and data. *Library Technology Reports*, 53, 12–17. <u>https://www.questia.com</u>
- Goodrich, K. (2015). MACRA overview and RFI.

https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/Joint_MACRA_RFI_2015-10-06.pdf

- Graefe, B., & Markette, J. (2021). Physician descriptions of the influence of pay for performance on medical decision-making. *Health Policy OPEN*, 2, 100036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpopen.2021.100036</u>
- Gruber, V., Kaliauer, M., & Schlegemilch, B. B. (2017). Improving the effectiveness and credibility of corporate social responsibility messaging: An Austrian model identifies influential CSR content and communication channels. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 57(4), 397–409. <u>https://doi.org/10.2501/JAR-2015-015</u>

Gwynne, M., & Agha, Z. (2019). The physician perspective on reducing healthcare costs. Journal of the American Society of Aging, Supplement, 24–29. https://www.asaging.org/

Hatherly, D., Mitchell, R. K., Mitchell, J. R., & Lee, J. H. (2020). Reimagining profits

and stakeholder capital to address tensions among stakeholders. *Business & Society*, *59*(2), 322–350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650317745637</u>

- Hazra, N. C., Rudisill, C., & Guilliford, M. C. (2018). Determinants of health care costs in the senior elderly: Age, comorbidity, impairment, or proximity to death? *European Journal of Health Economics*, 19, 831–842.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-017-0926-2
- Holloway, A., Sutton, J., & Swafford, M. (2017). Healthcare revenue recognition: 5 steps for net revenue modeling and reporting considerations. *Healthcare Financial Management*, 71(1), 64–69. <u>https://www.hfma.org/</u>

Huml, M. R., Hambrick, M. E., Hums, M. A., & Nite, C. (2018). It's powerful,
legitimate, and urgent, but is it equitable? Stakeholder claims within the attributes
of stakeholder salience in sport. *Journal of Sport Management*, 32(3), 243–256.
https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2017-0192

Integrated Healthcare Association. (2018). Align. Measure. Perform. (AMP) Programs: Measurement year 2018 manual.

https://www.iha.org/sites/default/files/resources/my_2018_align._measure._perfor m. amp_manual.pdf

Integrated Healthcare Association. (2019a). Align. Measure. Perform. (AMP).

https://www.iha.org/sites/default/files/resources/my_2020_amp_measure_set_201 91125.pdf

Integrated Healthcare Association. (2019b). Measurement year 2017 results.

https://atlas.iha.org/

Integrated Healthcare Association. (2020a). AMP Commercial ACO.

https://www.iha.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Fact-Sheet_-AMP-Commercial-ACO.pdf

Integrated Healthcare Association. (2020b). Performance measurement.

https://www.iha.org/performance-measurement/amp-program/

- James, J. (2012). Pay-for-Performance. *Health Affairs*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1377/hpb20121011.90233
- Jamison, S. D., Higginbotham, L. B., Chambard, M. L., White, D. P., Porterfield, D. S., & Flower, K. B. (2021). Preventive medicine physicians' role in health care organizations' pursuit of the triple aim. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 27(3), S133–S138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/phh.00000000001312</u>
- Johnston, K. J., Wen, H., & Joynt Maddox, K. (2020). Inadequate risk adjustment impacts geriatricians' performance on Medicare cost and quality measures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(2), 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16297
- Johnston, P., Wilson, A., & Almerico, G. M. (2018). Meeting psychometric requirements for disposition assessment: Valid and reliable indicators of teacher dispositions. *Journal of Instructional Pedagogies*, 21, 1–12. <u>http://www.aabri.com/jip.html</u>
- Jones, T. M., Harrison, J. S., & Felps, W. (2018). How applying instrumental stakeholder theory can provide sustainable competitive advantage. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(3), 371–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.54.65/amr.2016.0111</u>

Jortberg, B. T., Parrott, J. S., Schofield, M., Myers, E., Ayoob, K. T., Beseler, L., Davis,
A., Jimenez, E. Y., Pavlinac, J., & Smith, K. (2020). Trends in registered dietitian nutritionists' knowledge and patterns of coding, billing, and payment. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *120*(1), 134–145.e3.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2019.05.008

- Kapiriri, L., & Donya Razavi, S. (2021). Salient stakeholders: Using the salience stakeholder model to assess stakeholders' influence in healthcare priority setting. *Health Policy OPEN*, 2, 100048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpopen.2021.100048</u>
- Khan, H. A., Knusel, K. D., Calabrese, J. R., & Salas-Vega, S. (2020). Direct incremental healthcare costs associated with mood disorders in the United States, 2007–2017. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 273, 304–309.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.127

- Khurram, S., Pestre, F., & Petit, S. C. (2019). Taking stock of the stakeholder salience tradition: Renewing the research agenda. M@n@gement, 22(2), 141–175. <u>https://www.strategie-aims.com/</u>
- Kilic, T., & Kalkan, F. (2017). The extreme-capitalist face of corporate social responsibility and the stakeholder theory. *Revista de Cercetare si Interventie Sociala*, 57, 202–215. <u>https://www.expertprojects.ro/</u>
- Kim, M. O., Coiera, E., & Magrabi, F. (2017). Problems with health information technology and their effects on care delivery and patient outcomes: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(2), 246– 250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jaimia/ocw154</u>

Kim, S., Uysal, M., & Sirgy, M. J. (2015). Evaluating model-based imputation methods

for missing covariates in regression models with interactions. *Statistics in Medicine*, *34*(11), 1876–1888. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.6435

- Kim, Y. H., & Henderson, D. (2015). Financial benefits and risks of dependency in triadic supply chain relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 36(1), 115–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.04.001</u>
- Kisely, S. (2015). Can the next generation of clinician-scientists please step forward? *Australasiam Psychiatry*, 23(1), 5–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856214562123</u>
- Kjell, O. N., Kjell, K., Garcia, D., & Sikström, S. (2019). Semantic measures: Using natural language processing to measure, differentiate, and describe psychological constructs. *Psychological Methods*, 24(1), 92–115.

https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000191

Koenecke, A. (2019). A game theoretic setting of capitation versus fee-for-service payment systems. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(10), 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223672

- Kouvelioti, R., & Vagenas, G. (2015). Methodological and statistical quality in research evaluating nutritional attitudes in sports. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition* and Exercise Metabolism, 25(6), 624–635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.2014-0010</u>
- Kreps, S., & Roblin, S. (2019). Treatment format and external validity in international relations experiments. *International Interactions: Empirical and theoretical Research in International Relations*, 45(3), 574–594.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2019.1569002

- Lalicic, L. (2018). Open innovation platforms in tourism: How do stakeholders engage and reach consensus? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Managements*, 30(6), 2517–2536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-04-2016-0233</u>
- Laplume, A., Walker, K., Zhang, Z., & Yu, X. (2021). Incumbent stakeholder management performance and new entry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *174*(3), 629–644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04629-8</u>
- Lawman, H. G., Van Horn, M. L., Wilson, D. K., & Pate, R. R. (2015). A multilevel approach to examining time-specific effects in accelerometer-assessed physical activity. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(6), 667–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.09.003
- LeCroix, R. H., Goodrum, N. M., Hufstetler, S., & Armistead, L. P. (2017). Community data collection with children of mothers living with HIV: Boundaries of the researcher role. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 60(3–4), 368–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12193</u>
- Lee, E., Daugherty, J., & Hamelin, T. (2019). Reimagine health care leadership, challenges and opportunities in the 21st century. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 34(1), 27–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2017.11.007</u>
- Leslie, D., Mazumder, A., Peppin, A., Wolters, M. K., & Hagerty, A. (2021). Does "AI" stand for augmenting inequality in the era of covid-19 healthcare? *BMJ*, n304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n304</u>
- Li, G., Shcheglova, I., Bhuradia, A., Li, Y., Loyalka, P., Zhou, O., Hu, S., Yu, N., Ma, L., Guo, F., & Chirikov, I. (2020). Large-scale international assessments of learning

outcomes: Balancing the interests of multiple stakeholders. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, *43*(2), 198–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080x.2020.1767327

- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of the expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, 14(1), 24–37. <u>http://www.imrjournal.org/</u>
- Lochrie, S. (2016). Engaging and marketing to stakeholders in World Heritage Site management: A United Kingdom multiple case study perspective. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 32(15–16), 1392–1418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2016.1186107</u>
- Lu, Q., & Qiao, X. (2016). Significance analysis of high-dimensional, low-sample size partially labeled data. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 176, 78–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspi.2016.03.002</u>
- Lussier, R. N. (2011). Research methods and statistics for business. Waveland Press, Inc.
- Mabila, T. E. (2017). Postgraduate students' understanding of mixed methods research design at the proposal stage. *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 31(5), 136–153. https://doi.org/10.20853/31-5-1498
- Mainardes, E. W., Alves, H., & Raposo, M. (2011). Stakeholder theory: Issues to resolve. Management Decision, 49(2), 226–252.

https://doi.org/10.1108/00251741111109133

Maken, A., Fekadu, A., Murhar, V., Luitel, N., Kathree, T., Ssebunya, J., & Lund, C. (2015). Stakeholder analysis of the Programme for Improving Mental Health Care

(PRIME): Baseline findings. International Journal of Mental Health Systems,
9(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org//10.1186/s13033-015-0020-z</u>

- Mansour, M., Favini, N., Carome, M. A., Wolfe, S., Woolhandler, S., & Himmelstein, D. U. (2017). Accountable care organizations' payments to physicians: Patients should have the right to know. *American Journal of Public Health*, *107*(8), 1251–1252. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303918</u>
- Mantel, J. (2018). An unintended consequence of payment reforms: Providers avoiding nonadherent patients. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(4), 931–934. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518821992</u>
- Margaretha, F., & Supartika, N. (2016). Factors affecting profitability of small-medium enterprises (SMEs) listed in Indonesia stock exchange. *Journal of Economics, Business and Management*, 4(2), 131–137.

https://doi.org/10.7763/JOEBM.2016.V4.379

- Matherne, C. F. III, Bendickson, J. S., Santos, S. C., & Taylor, E. C. (2020). Making sense of entrepreneurial intent: A look at gender and entrepreneurial personal theory. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior and Research*, 26(5), 989–1009. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-08-2019-0475
- Matias, A. J. (2018). Statistics and quantitative analysis: The quick reference handbook.3 Swallys Press.
- Mayo Clinic. (2020). Male breast cancer. https://www.mayoclinic.org/
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537–542.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116

McGahan, A. M. (2020). Where does an organization's responsibility end?: Identifying the boundaries on stakeholder claims. *Academy of Management Discoveries*, 6(1), 8–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0218</u>

 Mease, L. A., Erickson, A., & Hicks, C. (2018). Engagement takes a (fishing) village to manage a resource: Principles and practice of effective stakeholder engagement. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 212, 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.02.015

- Melbøe, L. (2018). Role of the "differently-abled" researcher: Challenges and solutions in inclusive research. *European Journal of Disability Research*, 12(4), 225–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alter.2018.06.005</u>
- Mendelson, A., Kondo, K., Damberg, C., Low, A., Motuapuaka, M., Freeman, M., O'Neil, M., Relevo, R., & Kansgara, D. (2017). The effects of pay-forperformance programs on health, health care use, and processes of care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *166*(5), 341–353. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-1881</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, S. (2017). Stakeholder theory classification: A theoretical and empirical evaluation of definitions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *142*, 437–459.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2741-y

Milken Institute School of Public Health. (2012). Medical records collection, retention, and access in California. <u>www.healthinfolaw.org</u> Min, M., Desmoulins-Lebeault, F., & Esposito, M. (2017). Should pharmaceutical companies engage in corporate social responsibility? *Journal of Management Development*, 36(1), 58–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-09-2014-0103</u>

Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R., & Wood, D. J. (1997). Towards a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. *Academy of Management Review*, 22(4), 853–886.

https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1997.9711022105

- Mkanta, W. N., Katta, M., Basireddy, K., English, G., & Mejia de Grubb, M. C. (2016).
 Theoretical and methodological issues in research related to value-based approaches in healthcare. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, *61*(6), 402–419.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-201611000-00005
- Moquin, R., & Wakefield, R. L. (2016). The role of awareness, sanctions, and ethics in software compliance. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 56(3), 261–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2016.1153922</u>
- Moroni Cutovoi, I. T. (2018). Creating sustainable value (CSV) and innovation process under stakeholder theory. *Independent Journal of Management & Production*, 9(3), 1044–1059. https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v9i3.405
- Mozaffarian, D., Liu, J., Sy, S., Huang, Y., Rehm, C., Lee, Y., Wilde, P., Abrahams-Gessel, S., de Souze Veiga Jardim, T., Gaziano, T., & Micha, R. (2018). Costeffectiveness of financial incentives and disincentives for improving food purchases and health through the US Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP): A microsimulation study. *PLoS Medicine*, *15*(10), 1–25.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002661

- The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report*. https://www.hhs.gov/
- Neuhofer, B. (2016). Innovation through co-creation: Towards an understanding of technology-facilitated co-creation processes in tourism. *Open Tourism*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-54089-9_2</u>
- Niederman, R., Huang, S. S., Trescher, A., & Listl, S. (2017). Getting the incentives right: Improving oral health equity with Universal School-based Caries
 Prevention. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107, S50–S55.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303614
- Ogden, K., Barr, J., & Greenfield, D. (2017). Determining requirements for patientcentred care: A participatory concept mapping study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2741-y</u>
- Okazaki, S., Plangger, K., Roulet, T., & Menéndez, H. D. (2020). Assessing stakeholder network engagement. *European Journal of Marketing*, 55(5), 1359–1384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ejm-12-2018-0842</u>
- Olsen, T. D. (2017). Political stakeholder theory: The state, legitimacy, and the ethics of microfinance in emerging economies. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 27(1), 71–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2016.5</u>
- Oyemomi, O., Liu, S., Neaga, I., Chen, H., & Nakpodia, F. (2019). How cultural impact on knowledge sharing contributes to organizational performance: Using the fsQCA approach. *Journal of Business Research*, *94*, 313–319.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.02.027

Pacific Business Group on Health. (2020). Patient Assessment Survey.

https://www.pbgh.org/programs

- Pandya, A., Doran, T., Zhu, J., Walker, S., Arntson, E., & Ryan, A. M. (2018). Modelling the cost-effectiveness of pay-for-performance in primary care in the UK. *BMC Medicine*, 16(135), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1126-3</u>
- Papanicolas, I., Figueroa, J. F., Orav, E. J., & Jha, A. K. (2017). Patient hospital experience improved modestly, but no evidence Medicare incentives promoted meaningful gains. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 133–140. http://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0808

Park, B., Gold, S. B., Bazemore, A., & Liaw, W. (2018). How evolving United States payment models influence primary care and its impact on the Quadruple Aim. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 31(4), 588–604. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2018.04.170388

Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery

or justification? Journal of Marketing Thought, 3(1), 1–7.

https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1

Patel, S. (2018). Structural, institutional and organizational factors associated with successful pay for performance programmes in improving quality of maternal and child health care in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Global Health*, 8(2), 1–11.

https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.08.021001

- Pearson, E., & Frakt, A. (2020). Health care cost growth benchmarks in 5 states. *JAMA*, 324(6), 537–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.12437</u>
- Pericchi, L., & Pereira, C. (2016). Adaptive significance levels using optimal decision rules: Balancing by weighting the error probabilities. *Brazilian Journal of Probability and Statistics*, 30(1), 70–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1214/14-bjps257</u>
- Perng, S., & Tang, L. (2019). Self-management education in rural older adults with diabetes. *Journal of Nursing*, *66*(6), 13–19.

https://doi.org/10.6224/JN.201912_66(6).03

- Pimperl, A. F., Rodriguez, H. P., Schmittdiel, J. A., & Shortell, S. M. (2017). The implementation of performance management systems in the U.S. physician organizations. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 75(5), 562–585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558717696993</u>
- Pires, I. M., Garcia, N. M., Pombo, N., & Florez-Revuelta, F. (2016). From data acquisition to data fusion: A comprehensive review and a roadmap for the idenfitication of activities of daily living using mobile devices. *Sensors*, 16(2), 184. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s16020184</u>
- Pittaki, Z. (2018). Extending William Baumol's theory on entrepreneurship and institutions: Lessons from post-second world war Greece. *Business History*, 62(2), 343–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00076791.2018.1451515</u>
- Plonsky, L., & Oswald, F. (2017). Multiple regression as a flexible alternative to
 ANOVA in L2 research. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 39(3), 579–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263116000231</u>

- Quality Payment Program. (2018). <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Payment-Program/Quality-Payment-Program.html</u>
- Quality Payment Program. (2020). MIPS overview.

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Payment-Program/Quality-Payment-Program

- Quesado, P., Aibar Guzman, B., & Lima Rodrigues, L. (2018). Advantages and contributions in the balanced scorecard implementation. *Intangible Capital*, 14(1), 186–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.3926/ic.1110</u>
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal* of Economics & Management Sciences, 6(2), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000403</u>
- Rathi, V. K., Naunheim, M. R., Varvares, M. A., Holmes, K., Gagliano, N., & Hartnick, C. J. (2018). The Merit-based Incentive Payment System (MIPS): A primer for otolaryngologists. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*, *159*(3), 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599818774033
- Reddy, S. S., Reddy, D., & Ramanadham, U. K. (2017). Big data analytics for healthcare organization: A study of BDA process, benefits and challenges of BDA. *Advances in Science, Technology and Engineering Systems Journal*, 2(4), 189–196. https://doi.org/10.25046/aj020425
- Renko, M., Kroeck, K., & Bullough, A. (2012). Expectancy theory and nascent entrepreneurship. *Small Business Economics*, 39(3), 667–684.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-011-9354-3

Rim, H., Park, Y. E., & Song, D. (2020). Watch out when expectancy is violated: An experiment of inconsistent CSR message cueing. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 26(4), 343–361.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2018.1523216

- Ryan, A. M., Burgess, J. F. Jr., Pesko, M. F., Borden, W. B., & Dimick, J. B. (2015). The early effects of Medicare's mandatory hospital pay-for-performance program. *Health Services Research*, 50(1), 81–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12206</u>
- Ryan, A. M., Krinsky, S., Maurer, K. A., & Dimick, J. B. (2017). Changes in hospital quality associated with hospital value-based purchasing. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376, 2358–2366. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1613412
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Scemama, P., Mongruel, R., Kermagoret, C., Bailly, D., Carlier, A., Mao, P., & Vaschalde, E. (2022). Guidance for stakeholder consultation to support national ecosystem services assessment: A case study from french marine assessment. *Ecosystem Services*, 54, 101408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2022.101408</u>
- Scott, W. D. (2020). A balance sheet healthcare model to lower costs. *Journal of Accounting and Finance*, 20(4), 81–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.33423/jaf.v20i4.3119</u>
- Serra, M., Psarra, S., & O'Brien, J. (2018). Social and physical characterization of urban contexts: Techniques and methods for quantification, classification and purposive sampling. Urban Planning, 3(1), 58–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v3i1.1269</u>

- Siltaoja, M., & Lahdesmaki, M. (2015). From rationality to emotionally embedded relations: Envy as a signal of power in stakeholder relations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 128(4), 837–850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1987-5</u>
- Singh, P. (2019). Lean in healthcare organization: An opportunity for environmental sustainability. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 26(1), 205–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-04-2018-0104</u>
- Skirbekk, H., Hem, M. H., & Nortvedt, P. (2017). Prioritising patient care: The different views of clinicians and managers. *Nursing Ethics*, 25(6), 746–759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733016664977</u>
- Smith, J. P. III, Males, L. M., & Gonulates, F. (2016). Conceptual limitations in curricular presentations of area measurement: One nation's challenges.
 Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 18(4), 239–270.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10986065.2016.1219930
- Soneji, S., & Yang, J. (2015). New analysis reexamines the value of cancer care in the United States compared to Western Europe. *Health Affairs*, 34(3), 390–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0174</u>
- Stadler, A., Andrade dos Reis, E., Arantes, E. C., & Maia Del Corso, J. (2017). Study on professors' perception with respect to higher education institutions' socially responsible initiatives. *Brazilian Business Review*, 14(6), 592–608.

https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2017.14.6.3

Sterling, R. B. (2017). Competition in healthcare and non-fee-for-service revenue arrangements. *Journal of Medical Practice Management*, *32*(6), 365–367.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nlmcatalog/8605494

- Stern, M. J. (2018). Charity trust and the shareholder vs. stakeholder debate. Journal of Corporation Law, 43(4), 983–1004. <u>https://jcl.law.uiowa.edu/</u>
- Stewart, R. E., Lareef, I., Hadley, T. R., & Mandell, D. S. (2017). Can we pay for performance in behavioral health care? *Psychiatric Services*, 68(2), 109–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201600475</u>
- Stiglic, G., Kocbek, P., Fijacko, N., Sheikh, A., & Pajnkihar, M. (2017). Challenges associated with missing data in electronic health records: A case study of a risk prediction model for diabetes using data from Slovenian primary care. *Health Informatics Journal*, 25(3), 951–959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458217733288</u>
- Strang, R., Kendall, P., & Corriveau, A. (2017). Reviving a national prevention agenda is key to sustainability of health care in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 189(40), E1250–E1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170694</u>
- Stuart, E. A., Bradshaw, C. P., & Leaf, P. J. (2015). Assessing the generalizability of randomized trial results to target populations. *Prevention Science*, 16, 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0513-z
- Swinburne, M., Garfield, K., & Wasserman, A. R. (2017). Reducing hospital readmissions: Addressing the impact of food security and nutrition. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 45(S1), 86–89.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110517703333

Thiel, C. E., Bagdasarov, Z., Harkrider, L., Johnson, J. F., & Mumford, M. D. (2012). Leader ethical decision-making in organizations: Strategies for sensemaking. Journal of Business Ethics, 107, 49–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1299-</u> 1

- Thijssens, T., Bollen, L., & Hassink, H. (2015). Secondary stakeholder influence on CSR disclosure: An application of stakeholder salience theory. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 132(4), 873–891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2623-3</u>
- Torre, D. M., & Picho, K. (2016). Threats to internal and external validity in health professions education research. *Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 91(12), e21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000001446</u>
- Trani, J., Babulal, G. M., & Bakhshi, P. (2015). Development and validation of the 34 item disability screening questionnaire (DSQ-34) for use in low and middle income countries epidemiological and development surveys. *Plos One*, *10*(12), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143610</u>
- United Nations Global Compact. (2015). Executive summary: Scaling up sustainability collaboration: Contributions of business associations and sector initiative to sustainable development.

https://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/issues_doc/development/BusinessAssocia tionsSectorandSD_ExecSummary.pdf

Van Rossum, L., Aij, K. H., Simons, F. E., Van der Eng, N., & Ten Have, W. D. (2015). Lean healthcare from a change management perspective: The role of leadership and workforce flexibility in an operating theatre. *Journal of Health Organization* and Management, 30(3), 475–493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-06-2014-0090</u>

Varadarajan, R. (2014). Toward sustainability: Public policy, global social innovations

for base-of-the-pyramid markets, and demarketing for a better world. *Journal of International Marketing*, 22(2), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jim.13.0158</u>

- Waddimba, A. C., Mohr, D. C., Beckman, H. B., Mahoney, T. L., & Young, G. J. (2019). Job satisfaction and guideline adherence among physicians: Moderating effects of perceived autonomy support and job control. *Social Science & Medicine*, 233, 208–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.04.045</u>
- Wammes, J. J., Van der Wees, P. J., Tanke, M. A., Westert, G. P., & Jeurissen, P. P. (2018). Systematic review of high-cost patients' characteristics and healthcare utilisation. *BMJ Open*, 8, e023113–e23130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023113</u>
- Wang, F. (2018). The roles of preventive and curative health care in economic development. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(11), e0206808–e0206824. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206808
- Weitzner, D., & Deutsch, Y. (2019). Why the time has come to retire instrumental stakeholder theory. Academy of Management Review, 44, 694–698. <u>https://aom.org/</u>
- Wells, R. S., Kolek, E. A., Williams, E. A., & Saunders, D. B. (2015). How we know what we know: A systematic comparison of research methods employed in higher education journals. *Journal of Higher Education*, 86(2), 171–198. https://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.2015.0006
- Wiley, L. F., & Matthews, G. W. (2017). Health care system transformation and integration: A call to action for public health. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*,

45(2017 Supplement), 94–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110517703335

- Williams, D. M., Lee, H. H., Connell, L., Boyle, H., Emerson, J., Strohacker, K., & Galarraga, O. (2018). Small sustainable monetary incentives versus charitable donations to promote exercise: Rationale, design, and baseline data from a randomized pilot study. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 66, 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2018.01.005
- Williams, L. D., & Aber, J. L. (2015). Testing for plausibly causal links between parental bereavement and child socio-emotional and academic outcomes: A Propensityscore matching model. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44, 705–718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0069-9</u>
- Windsong, E. A. (2018). Incorporating intersectionality into research design: An example using qualitative interviews. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(2), 135–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1268361</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage.
- Yoshikawa, Y., Feldhaus, I., Özçelik, E., Hashiguchi, T., & Cecchini, M. (2021).
 Financial strategies targeting healthcare providers to promote the prudent use of antibiotics: A systematic review of the evidence. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 58(6), 106446.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2021.106446

Zarrinpar, A., Cheng, T. D., & Huo, Z. (2020). What can we learn about drug safety and other effects in the era of electronic health records and big data that we would not

be able to learn from classic Epidemology? *Journal of Surgical Research*, *246*, 599–604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2019.09.053</u>

Appendix A: Data Use Agreement

This Data Use Agreement ("Agreement"), effective as of 5/27/2021 ("Effective Date"), is entered into by and between (Claire Turner) ("Data Recipient") and (Medical Director.) ("Data Provider"). The purpose of this Agreement is to provide Data Recipient with access to a Limited Data Set ("LDS") for use in research in accord with the HIPAA Regulations.

1. <u>Definitions.</u> Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, all capitalized terms used in this Agreement not otherwise defined have the meaning established for purposes of the "HIPAA Regulations" codified at Title 45 parts 160 through 164 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations, as amended from time to time.

2. <u>Preparation of the LDS.</u> Data Provider shall prepare and furnish to Data Recipient a LDS in accord with any applicable HIPAA or FERPA Regulations.

3. Data to be included in the LDS. No direct identifiers such as names may be included in the Limited Data Set (LDS). The researcher will not name the Data Provider in the doctoral study that is published in Proquest unless the Data Provider makes a written request for the researcher to do so. In preparing the LDS, Data Provider or designee shall include the data fields specified as follows, which are the minimum necessary to accomplish the researche:

- De-identified patient information for diagnoses codes, sex, and date of birth for patients with continuous enrollment with a participating health plan for the calendar year of 2018.
- De-identified treatment information of procedure codes, dates of service, and the provider specialty for each visit during the calendar year 2018 for the specific population.
- The sum of incentive payments received from participating health plans

4. <u>Responsibilities of Data Recipient.</u> Data Recipient agrees to:

a. Use or disclose the LDS only as permitted by this Agreement or as required by law;

b. Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of the LDS other than as permitted by this Agreement or required by law;

c. Report to Data Provider any use or disclosure of the LDS of which it becomes aware that is not permitted by this Agreement or required by law; d. Require any of its subcontractors or agents that receive or have access to the LDS to agree to the same restrictions and conditions on the use and/or disclosure of the LDS that apply to Data Recipient under this Agreement; and

e. Not use the information in the LDS to identify or contact the individuals who are data subjects.

5. <u>Permitted Uses and Disclosures of the LDS.</u> Data Recipient may use and/or disclose the LDS for its research activities only.

6. Term and Termination.

a. <u>Term.</u> The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and shall continue for so long as Data Recipient retains the LDS, unless sooner terminated as set forth in this Agreement.

b. <u>Termination by Data Recipient.</u> Data Recipient may terminate this agreement at any time by notifying the Data Provider and returning or destroying the LDS.

c. <u>Termination by Data Provider</u>. Data Provider may terminate this agreement at any time by providing thirty (30) days prior written notice to Data Recipient.

d. <u>For Breach.</u> Data Provider shall provide written notice to Data Recipient within ten (10) days of any determination that Data Recipient has breached a material term of this Agreement. Data Provider shall afford Data Recipient an opportunity to cure said alleged material breach upon mutually agreeable terms. Failure to agree on mutually agreeable terms for cure within thirty (30) days shall be grounds for the immediate termination of this Agreement by Data Provider.

e. <u>Effect of Termination</u>. Sections 1, 4, 5, 6(e) and 7 of this Agreement shall survive any termination of this Agreement under subsections c or d.

7. Miscellaneous.

a. <u>Change in Law.</u> The parties agree to negotiate in good faith to amend this Agreement to comport with changes in federal law that materially alter either or both parties' obligations under this Agreement. Provided however, that if the parties are unable to agree to mutually acceptable amendment(s) by the compliance date of the change in applicable law or regulations, either Party may terminate this Agreement as provided in section 6.

b. <u>Construction of Terms.</u> The terms of this Agreement shall be construed to give effect to applicable federal interpretative guidance regarding the HIPAA Regulations.

c. <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer upon any person other than the parties and their respective successors or assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities whatsoever.

d. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

e. <u>Headings.</u> The headings and other captions in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall not be used in interpreting, construing or enforcing any of the provisions of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its name and on its behalf.

DATA PROVIDER

Signed: _____

Print Name:

Print Title: Medical Director

Print Name: Claire Turner

Signed:

DATA RECIPIENT

Print Title: Researcher

Appendix B: Data Collected

Provider	Costs	Payments			Profitability		Participating	
1	\$	195.46	\$	211.90	\$	16.44	No	
2	\$	24.36	\$	57.50	\$	33.14	No	
3	\$	108.46	\$	163.80	\$	55.34	No	
4	\$	140.94	\$	196.30	\$	55.36	No	
5	\$	149.06	\$	210.60	\$	61.54	No	
6	\$	147.90	\$	211.90	\$	64.00	No	
7	\$	145.58	\$	212.39	\$	66.81	No	
8	\$	41.18	\$	112.50	\$	71.32	No	
9	\$	154.28	\$	226.20	\$	71.92	No	
10	\$	27.26	\$	145.00	\$	117.74	No	
11	\$	35.96	\$	220.00	\$	184.04	No	
12	\$	43.50	\$	232.50	\$	189.00	No	
13	\$	5.22	\$	265.52	\$	260.30	No	
14	\$	6.38	\$	390.19	\$	383.81	No	
15	\$	46.40	\$	602.00	\$	555.60	No	
16	\$	13.34	\$	600.53	\$	587.19	No	
17	\$	14.50	\$	686.80	\$	672.30	No	
18	\$	12.76	\$	711.02	\$	698.26	No	
19	\$	59.16	\$	805.00	\$	745.84	No	
20	\$	13.92	\$	789.83	\$	775.91	No	
21	\$	27.26	\$	812.00	\$	784.74	No	
22	\$	16.82	\$	851.87	\$	835.05	No	
23	\$	16.24	\$	854.59	\$	838.35	No	
24	\$	15.08	\$	876.09	\$	861.01	No	
25	\$	17.98	\$	907.18	\$	889.20	No	
26	\$	64.38	\$	958.00	\$	893.62	No	
27	\$	15.66	\$	1,026.98	\$	1,011.32	No	
28	\$	17.40	\$	1,110.53	\$	1,093.13	No	
29	\$	18.56	\$	1,181.89	\$	1,163.33	No	
30	\$	27.84	\$	1,287.33	\$	1,259.49	No	
31	\$	24.94	\$	1,333.05	\$	1,308.11	No	
32	\$	21.46	\$	1,357.98	\$	1,336.52	No	
33	\$	22.62	\$	1,421.90	\$	1,399.28	No	
34	\$	26.68	\$	1,500.84	\$	1,474.16	No	
35	\$	31.32	\$	1,538.67	\$	1,507.35	Yes	
36	\$	38.28	\$	1,703.17	\$	1,664.89	Yes	
37	\$	40.02	\$	1,717.35	\$	1,677.33	Yes	
38	\$	40.02	\$	1,717.35	\$	1,677.33	Yes	

39	\$ 41.18	\$ 1,726.81	\$ 1,685.63	Yes
40	\$ 41.18	\$ 1,726.81	\$ 1,685.63	Yes
41	\$ 29.00	\$ 1,766.24	\$ 1,737.24	Yes
42	\$ 30.74	\$ 1,771.81	\$ 1,741.07	Yes
43	\$ 42.34	\$ 1,851.47	\$ 1,809.13	Yes
44	\$ 42.92	\$ 1,856.20	\$ 1,813.28	Yes
45	\$ 42.92	\$ 1,856.20	\$ 1,813.28	Yes
46	\$ 44.08	\$ 1,865.65	\$ 1,821.57	Yes
47	\$ 44.08	\$ 1,865.65	\$ 1,821.57	Yes
48	\$ 42.34	\$ 1,889.87	\$ 1,847.53	Yes
49	\$ 37.70	\$ 1,890.45	\$ 1,852.75	Yes
50	\$ 43.50	\$ 1,899.33	\$ 1 <i>,</i> 855.83	Yes
51	\$ 44.08	\$ 1,904.06	\$ 1 <i>,</i> 859.98	Yes
52	\$ 45.24	\$ 1,913.51	\$ 1,868.27	Yes
53	\$ 46.40	\$ 1,922.97	\$ 1 <i>,</i> 876.57	Yes
54	\$ 42.92	\$ 1,963.96	\$ 1,921.04	Yes
55	\$ 30.74	\$ 2,033.18	\$ 2,002.44	Yes
56	\$ 38.86	\$ 2,046.07	\$ 2,007.21	Yes
57	\$ 34.80	\$ 2,104.68	\$ 2 <i>,</i> 069.88	Yes
58	\$ 31.90	\$ 2,212.31	\$ 2,180.41	Yes
59	\$ 44.08	\$ 2,481.27	\$ 2 <i>,</i> 437.19	Yes
60	\$ 46.40	\$ 2,677.30	\$ 2 <i>,</i> 630.90	Yes
61	\$ 44.66	\$ 2,837.90	\$ 2,793.24	Yes
62	\$ 50.46	\$ 2 <i>,</i> 892.63	\$ 2,842.17	Yes
63	\$ 53.36	\$ 2,954.67	\$ 2,901.31	Yes
64	\$ 46.98	\$ 3,087.23	\$ 3 <i>,</i> 040.25	Yes
65	\$ 56.84	\$ 3,129.21	\$ 3,072.37	Yes
66	\$ 48.72	\$ 3,139.82	\$ 3,091.10	Yes
67	\$ 55.68	\$ 3,413.24	\$ 3 <i>,</i> 357.56	Yes
68	\$ 60.32	\$ 3,527.87	\$ 3 <i>,</i> 467.55	Yes
69	\$ 60.90	\$ 3,662.71	\$ 3,601.81	Yes
70	\$ 64.96	\$ 3,702.08	\$ 3,637.12	Yes
71	\$ 70.76	\$ 4,335.19	\$ 4,264.43	Yes
72	\$ 72.50	\$ 4,339.59	\$ 4,267.09	Yes
73	\$ 77.14	\$ 4,519.63	\$ 4,442.49	Yes